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TRANSLATED FROM UKRAINIAN ORIGINAL 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders and Supervisory Board of JSC ‘ALTBANK’ 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of JSC ‘ALTBANK’ (the Bank), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows (direct approach) for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Bank as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Law of Ukraine On Accounting and Financial Reporting in Ukraine and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section in the report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA) and ethical requirements, that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Ukraine, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the Code of Ethics issued by IESBA. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter paragraph 

We draw your attention to Note 2 of the financial statements Economic environment, which describes the 
operating environment in Ukraine. The circumstances, described in the Note, may continue to make a 
negative influence to the financial position and performance of the Bank in such a way and to such an extent 
that cannot be determined at this time. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other matters 

An audit of the financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2017, was conducted by 
another auditor, who expressed unmodified opinion regarding the financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.  

Provision for loan impairment 

The estimation of the provision for loan impairment is a key area of professional judgment of the Bank's 
management. Identifying of impairment and determination of amount of expected reimbursement include 
some assumptions and analysis of different factors, including the financial position of borrower, expected 
future cash flow and fair value of collaterals.  

The use of various assumptions may be result of various estimates of the provision for loan impairment. 
Taking into account the materiality of customer credit balances and a certain level of subjectivity of 
judgments, we have determined the valuation of the provision for impairment as the key issue of the audit. 

Our audit procedures included assessment of methodology used by the Bank to determine the signs of 
depreciation and calculating the provision for impairment, testing input data and assumption analysis. For 
provisions for loan impairment with detected individual signs of impairment, we have audited assumptions 
underlying the basis for detecting impairment and its quantitative assessment, including the analysis of 
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financial indicators of borrowers, forecasts for future cash flows and collateral assessment. For provisions of 
loan impairment, calculated on collective basis, which have not been demonstrate individual signs of 
impairment, we analyzed Bank’s models and audited relevance and accuracy input data used in this models. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management 
Report and Corporate governance Report. The other information which we expected to receive after the date 
of this Auditor`s report is Annual Information on the Issuer of Securities.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual Information on the Issuer of Securities, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and The 
NSSMC. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charges with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessment Bank’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosure, if applicable, issues regarding going concern and apply going concern as a 
basis for accounting, except, if the management plans to liquidate the Bank or discontinue the activity or 
have not any other real alternatives for it.  

Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process of financial reporting of the Bank. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

To obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to release the auditor’s report, to express our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee than an audit conducted with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the internal control;

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;

 conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Background information on activities in 2018 

JOINT STOCK COMPANY "ALTBANK" (hereinafter - the "Bank") was established under the laws of Ukraine on 21 
October 1991. The Bank changed its shareholders, legal form and name. In 2016 sales agreement of Bank 
controlling shareholding was signed in the amount of 99.9129% to individuals: Mr. S. Artyukh, Mr. A. Degoda, Mr. 
I. Volokh, Mr. L. Stolnikov and Mr. O. Shuptar.  

On November 18, 2016 the Bank changed its name from PJSC "NEOS Bank" to JSC "ALTBANK", which was 
recorded at the State Register of banks. This decision was made after completion of the acquisition of a 
controlling stake in ABH Ukraine Limited. 
 
In the second quarter of 2018, as a result of the application of the provisions of Article 65-2 of the Law of Ukraine 
"On Joint Stock Companies" in accordance with the procedure and on the terms and conditions specified in 
paragraph 2 of Section II "Final and Transitional Provisions" of the Law of Ukraine dated March 23, 2017, No. 
1983-VIII "On amending some legislative acts of Ukraine on increasing the level of corporate governance in joint-
stock companies ", the share of the owner of significant participation in the bank Mr. I. Volokh increased from 
20,017463% to 20,0709676%, and the composition of the final key participants in the ownership structure the 
bank reduced to five shareholders Igor  Volokh as an authorized person in the interests of a group of persons 
acting jointly (namely, the five largest shareholders) has purchased the shares of the Bank from all other 
shareholders 

The extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting decided to change the type of the Bank from a public joint-
stock company to a private joint-stock company, to change the full name of the Bank (remove the word "Public"), 
as well as to approve new versions of the Bank's Charter and provisions of the Bank's departments on October 
10 , 2018. All these changes came into force on November 13, 2018, after the approval of the National Bank of 
Ukraine and the state registration of the Bank's Charter in a new wording. 

Bank is located at 5 Vuzovskaya Street, 03037, Kyiv, Ukraine. 

The Bank is governed by the Laws of Ukraine “On banks and banking activity”, ”On joint-stock companies”, “On 
securities and stock market”, “On accounting and financial reports in Ukraine”, Civil code of Ukraine, Economic 
code of Ukraine, other current legislation of Ukraine, as well as normative legal acts of the National Bank of 
Ukraine and other executive authorities. 

Shareholders of the Bank. As at COB 31 December 2018, total direct significant share of individuals in the 
Bank’s share capital was 100% of shares and divided as follows: 

 31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Mr.S. Artyukh 24,5923466 % 24,592346% 

Mr.A. Degoda 24,5923466 % 24,592346% 

Mr.L. Stolnikov 24,5923466 % 24,592346% 

Mr.I. Volokh 20,0709676 % 20,017463% 

Mr.O. Shuptar 6,1519926 % 6,151992% 

Total 100,00% 99,946493% 

Management share in the Bank’s shares is 20,0709676% and belongs to Mr. I. Volokh, the Chairman of the 
Management Board. 

Organizational structure of the Bank. As at 31 December 2018 the Bank has 1 department (as at 31 December 
2017 – 1 department). As at 31 December 2018, total number of the Bank’s employees was 68 persons (as at 31 
December 2017 – 72 persons). 

Licenses and permissions of the Bank. The Bank operates on the basis of the Bank License №106, issued by 
the National Bank of Ukraine on 19 November 2018, which authorizes to conduct banking services. 
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According to the current legislation and on the basis of the relevant licenses of the National Securities and Stock 
Market Commission. The Bank can perform depositary activities of the depositary institution, the activity of 
storing assets of joint investment institutions and professional activity in the securities market of the stock 
market: brokerage and dealer activity. 

The Bank's primary business is providing banking services to legal entities and individuals. 

The Bank is a member of the Deposit Guarantee Fund. 

2. Operating environment 

During the year, no significant changes have taken place in the macroeconomic environment of Ukraine. The 
economic growth was slow. Macroeconomic environment inside and outside the country was moderately 
favourable for the financial sector. The introduction of martial law in ten regions of Ukraine did not have a 
significant impact on the banking sector: deposits of the population and business did not decrease, banks 
remained liquid and uninterruptedly carried out all payments. 

The real GDP indicated growth of 3.3% in 2018. The average inflation rate by the 12 months of 2018 was 9.8%. 
First of all, this was facilitated by the rigorous monetary policy of the National Bank of Ukraine. In addition, in 
order to promote a reduction in consumer inflation, the National Bank of Ukraine in 2018 four times raised the 
discount rate from 14.5% to 18%, the last - at the end of the third quarter. 

At the end of 2018, there were 77 operating banks in the banking sector of Ukraine. During the year, two banks 
completed the merger procedures with others, two were converted to financial companies, one bank was found 
to be insolvent. 

In 2018, the banking sector received a net profit of 21.7 billion hryvnias. The increase in assets of the banking 
system by 2% was primarily due to an increase in the loan portfolio. During the year, the credit risk of the 
banking sector was gradually declining, indicating a recovery in the financial condition of borrowers. In 2018, 
inflow of funds into the banking system grew, hryvnia funds of the population and business entities increased: by 
14.8% and 6.8% respectively, compared with 2017. 

At present, the main economic risk is the lack of progress in the implementation of the structural reforms 
necessary to maintain macro-financial stability and further cooperation with the IMF against the backdrop of 
high levels of repayment of external debt in the coming years. 
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3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

In these financial statements, the Bank has applied IFRS 9 and IFRS 7R, effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018, for the first time. The Bank has not adopted early any other standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

In 2018, some other amendments to standards and clarifications were applied for the first time that did not 
affect the Bank's financial statements. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 for annual periods on or after 1 January 2018. 

The Bank restated the comparative information for 2017 for financial instruments that fall within the scope of 
IFRS 9, where it was possible without making unnecessary efforts. Where the restated of comparative 
information for 2017 was not carried out, the information is presented in accordance with IAS 39 and is not 
comparable with the information for 2018. Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised 
directly in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 and are disclosed in Note 8. 

 Changes to classification and measurement 

To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity 
instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination of the entity’s business model for managing 
the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics. 

The IFRS 9 containes three main categories of financial assets: 

 Financial assets at amortised cost; 

 Financial aseets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss FVPL. 

This standard abolished existing IAS 39 classifiable financial assets held to maturity, loans and receivables and 
available for sale 

The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39, except for the treatment 
of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVPL. Such 
movements are presented in OCI with no subsequent reclassification to the income statement. 

The Bank’s classification of its financial assets and liabilities is explained in Notes 4. The quantitative impact of 
applying IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 is disclosed in Note 8. 

 Changes to the impairment calculation 

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s accounting for loan loss impairments by replacing 
IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the 
Bank to record an allowance for ECLs for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, together with 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The allowance is based on the ECLs associated with the 
probability of default in the next twelve months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
origination. If the financial asset meets the definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI), the 
allowance is based on the change in the ECLs over the life of the asset.. 

Details of the Bank’s impairment method are disclosed in Note 4. The quantitative impact of applying IFRS 9 as at 
1 January 2018 is disclosed in Note 8. 

IFRS 7R 

To reflect the differences between IFRS 9 and IAS 39, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was updated and 
the Bank has adopted it, together with IFRS 9, for the year beginning 1 January 2018. Changes include transition 
disclosures as shown in Note 8, detailed qualitative and quantitative information about the ECL calculations such 
as the assumptions and inputs used are set out in Note 0. 

Validation of the ECL Residual Estimated Reserves at the beginning of the period with the balances at the end of 
the period is presented in Notes 9, 10, 11 and 0.  

IFRS 7R also requires disclosure of additional and more detailed information on hedge accounting. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Basis of preparation  

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)  

Foreign currency 

These financial statements are presented in Ukrainian hryvnias, which is the currency of the main economic 
environment the Bank operates in (functional currency). Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies, other than the functional currency of the Bank (in foreign currencies), are translated into Ukrainian 
hryvnia at the respective official exchange rates that are effective at the reporting date. 

The balance sheet assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the Statement of 
financial position at the official exchange rate ruling at the date they occur and revalued at the exchange rate at 
the reporting date. Income and expenses in foreign currency are recognized at the official exchange rate ruling at 
the date they occur, rather than at the settlement date, and if the cash method is applied, at the rate of 
settlement. All gains and losses arising from this recalculation are recognized in the net gain/(loss) from foreign 
currency transactions. 

Exchange rates. The following official exchange rates were used to prepare these financial statements 

 Currency 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

U.S. dollar (USD) 27,688264 28,067223 

Euro (EUR) 31,714138 33,495424 

Net interest income 

Interest income and interest expenses by all types of financial instruments, except types, that is classified as held 
for sale and types, that is evaluated or intended for accounting at FVTPL, and displayed in the part of Net interest 
income as Interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss, using interest effective rate method. The 
financial instrument`s interests at FVTPL, includes to the part of fair value for the period.  

The effective interest rate (hereinafter - EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liablity. Future cash flows are estimated considering all contractual 
terms. 

The EIR includes all commissions and gatherings payed or received between the parties of agreement, that are 
additional and directly related to concrete credit agreement, transaction expenses and all other premiums and 
discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL, the operation expences are determined in profit or loss at initial 
recognition. 

Interest income / interest expense are calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the non-
impaired financial assets (that is, at the amortized cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected 
credit losses) or to the amortized cost of financial liabilities. For impaired financial assets, interest income is 
calculated by applying the EIR to the net amortized cost of the loan-loss financial assets (that is, the total book 
value, less provision for expected loan losses (hereinafter referred to as ECL)). For financial assets acquired or 
purchased of the credit-impaired (POCI), the EIR reflects the ECL in determining the future cash flows expected 
to be received from the financial asset. 

Net commission  income 

Commission income and expenses include commissions, except those that form an integral part of the EIR (see 
above). The commissions, included in this part of the Bank's profit and loss account include, inter alia, loan 
servicing fees, unused commission fees associated with loans, where it is unlikely that such a commitment will 
result in specific lending. 

Commission expenses related services are recorded as providing services. 
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Fair value 

Determined as the price that would be obtained as a result of selling an asset or paid as a result of a transfer of a 
liability in operations inter between market participants at the valuation date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable on the market or evaluated using another method of valuation. When assessing the fair value 
of an asset or liability, the Bank takes into account the characteristics of the relevant asset or liability at the 
valuation date. Fair value for the purposes of assessment and / or disclosure in these financial statements is 
determined on this basis, except for lease operations that are within the scope of IAS 17 "Leases", and estimates 
that have a certain similarity to fair value but are not fair value , such as the net realizable value in accordance 
with IAS 2 " Inventories ", or the value when used in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" 

In addition, for the purposes of the financial statements, fair value estimates are categorized at levels 1, 2 or 3, 
depending on the extent to which inputs used for fair value measurements are observable and the importance of 
such inputs for the measurement of fair value as a whole, which can be described as follows: 

 Data-in of level 1 is the quoted prices (without adjustment) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities to which the Bank may have access at the valuation date; 

 Data-in of level 2 information is the input (except for quotation prices included in level 1) that can be 
monitored for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Data-in of level 3 are inputs for an asset or liability that is not publicly available. 

Financial instruments – initial recognition  

Date of recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to 
customers, are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
market place. Loans and advances to customers are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ 
accounts. The Bank recognises balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank. 

Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the 
business model for managing the instruments, as described in Notes ‘Evaluation of the business model’ and ‘SPPI 
test’. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value except in the case of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at FVTPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade 
receivables are measured at the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial 
recognition differs from the transaction price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below. 

Day 1 profit or loss 

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based 
on a valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognises the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value is based on 
models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the fair 
value is deferred and is only recognised in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the 
instrument is derecognised. 

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 

From 1 January 2018, the Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the 
assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either: 

 Amortised cost, look “due from banks”, “loans to customers”, “financial investments” at amortised cost; 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), look “Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (policy, applied at 1 January, 2018)” and “Equity instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (policy, applied at 1 January, 2018)” and; 

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
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The Bank classifies and evaluates derivatives and trading instruments at FVTPL, look "Derivatives that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss" and "Financial assets or financial liabilities intended for trading". 
The Bank may, at its discretion, classify financial instruments at FVTPL estimates, if such a classification would 
eliminate or significantly reduce the inconsistency of valuation and recognition approaches, see "Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss". 

Before 1 January, 2018, the Bank classified its financial assets as: 

 loans and receivables (at amortised cost), look “due from banks”, “loans to customers”, “financial 
investments” at amortised cost; 

 assets, held for sale (at fair value through profit or loss), look “Securities for sale (policy, applied to 1 
January 2018)” and “Securities at fair value through profit or loss (policy, applied to 1 January, 2018)”; 

 assets, held-to-maturity (at amortised cost), look “due from banks”, loans to customers, financial 
investments at amortised cost”. 

Financial liabilities, except loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortised cost or at 
FVTOCI when they are held for trading and are the derivative instruments or, by the organization's decision, are 
classified as at fair value, look “Financial assets and financial liabilies at fair value through profit or loss”.  

Financial assets and liabilities 

Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial investments at amortised cost 

Before 1 January 2018, Due from bank and Loans and advances to customers, included non–derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not quoted in an active market, other than those 

 That the Bank intended to sell immediately or in the near term; 

 That the Bank, upon initial recognition, designated as at FVPL or as available-for-sale 

 For which the Bank may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of 
credit deterioration, which were designated as available-for-sale. 

From 1 January 2018, the Bank only measures Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and other 
financial investments at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

 Business model assessment 

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets 
to achieve its business objective. 

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of 
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as 

 How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are 
evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel 

 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed 

 The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment 

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress 
case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the 
Bank's original expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in 
that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased 
financial assets going forward. 
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 The SPPI test 

As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to 
identify whether they meet the SPPI test. 

Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and 
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation 
of the premium/discount). 

The most significant elements of interest within a lending agreement are typically the consideration for the time 
value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers relevant 
factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest 
rate is set. 

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial 
asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics: 

 Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract 
(i.e., the 'underlying'); 

 It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required 
for other types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.; 

 It is settled at a future date.  

The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps, 
futures, credit default swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on interest 
rates, foreign currencies and equities. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Fully secured derivative instruments, 
repayment of which is regularly carried out on a net basis in cash, recognized only in the amount of outstanding 
balances before the next business day. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in net trading income 
unless hedge accounting is applied. Hedge accounting disclosures are provided in Note 4.  

During 2018 and 2017, the Bank does not carry out operations with derivative financial instruments. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading 

The Bank classifies financial assets or financial liabilities as held for trading when they have been purchased or 
issued primarily for short-term profit making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments that are managed together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit 
taking. Held-for-trading assets and liabilities are recorded and measured in the statement of financial position at 
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in net trading income. Interest and dividend income or expense is 
recorded in net trading income according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to payment has been 
established. 

Included in this classification are debt securities, equities, short positions and customer loans that have been 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 

During 2018 and 2017, the Bank did not classify financial assets or financial liabilities as held for trading. 

Debt instruments at FVOCI (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018) 

The Bank applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the 
following conditions are met: 

 The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 
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These instruments mainly include assets that were classified previously as financial investments held for sale in 
accordance with IAS 39. 

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in 
fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The ECL calculation for Debt 
instruments at FVOCI is explained in Note 4. Where the Bank holds more than one investment in the same 
security, they are deemed to be disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. On derecognition, cumulative gains or 
losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss. 

Equity instruments at FVOCI (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018) 

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as 
equity instruments at FVOCI if they correspond to the definition of a equity instrument at IAS 32 «Financial 
Instruments: Presentation» and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by- 
instrument basis. 

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are recognised in profit or 
loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Bank 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are 
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. 

Debt issued and other borrowed funds  

After initial recognition, issued debt instruments and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue funds, and 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an 
equity component is separated at the issue date.. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been 
either designated by management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair 
value under IFRS 9. Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one of the 
following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis: 

 The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; 

Or 

 The liabilities (and assets until 1 January 2018 under IAS 39) are part of a group of financial liabilities 
(or financial assets, or both under IAS 39), which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair 
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; 

 Or 

 The liabilities (and assets until 1 January 2018 under IAS 39) containing one or more embedded 
derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the cash flows that would otherwise be required by 
the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar instrument is first considered that 
separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value of liabilities 
designated at FVPL due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in the 
Own credit reserve through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest earned or incurred on 
instruments designated at FVPL is accrued in interest income or interest expense, respectively, using the EIR, 
taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an integral part of instrument. 
Interest earnt on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using contractual interest rate, 
look “Net interest income”. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVPL is recorded in profit or 
loss as other operating income when the right to the payment has been established. 

During 2018, the Bank did not have financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 



FREE TRANSLATION FROM THE ORIGINAL IN UKRAINIAN  

JOIN STOCK COMPANY ‘‘ALTBANK’’ 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as at 31.12.2018 

(in thousands of hryvnias) 

18 

Financial guarantees and undrawn loan commitments 

The Bank issues financial guarantees and loan commitments.. 

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being 
the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at 
the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, 
and – under IAS 39 – the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a 
result of the guarantee, or – under IFRS 9 – an ECL provision as set out in Note 0. 

The premium received is recognised in the income statement in Net fees and commission income on a straight 
line basis over the life of the guarantee. 

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the 
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial 
guarantee contracts, under IAS 39, a provision was made if they were an onerous contract but, from 1 January 
2018, these contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements. 

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees and undrawn loan commitments, where the loan agreed to 
be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position. The nominal values of 
these instruments together with the corresponding ECLs are disclosed in Note 0. 

The Bank occasionally issues loan commitments at below market interest rates drawdown. Such commitments 
are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount of the ECL allowance (look “Overview of the principles 
for estimating expected credit losses” below and Note 0 (look “Credit risk: depreciation valuation (policy, applied 
from 1 January 2018”) or the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of 
income recognised. 

Available-for-sale financial investments (Policy applicable before 1 January 2018) 

The Bank classifies shares, thet held for sale and not classified as held for sale at fair value through profit/loss or 
securities in the portfolio until maturity to portfolio for sale. 

Securities, accounted at fair value through profit or loss (Policy applicable before 1 January 2018) 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are: 

 debt securities, stocks and other non-fixed income securities used by the Bank to generate profits as a 
result of short-term fluctuations in prices and sales in the near future; 

 other securities defined by the Bank at the initial recognition stage as those for which the Bank intends 
and able to recognize at fair value through profit or loss (except for shares that do not have a quoted 
price in an active market and are fair the cost of which can not be reliably determined). These securities 
include securities that are not used by the Bank to generate short-term yields and government-issued 
bonds with an index value that include a derivative financial instrument that is not subject to separation. 
In accordance with article 12 of IAS 39, such securities are carried at fair value with a revaluation 
recognized as profit or loss. 

Securities are initially measured at fair value, such securities are not reviewed for impairment. Costs of 
acquisition operations are recognized at cost of initial recognition of such securities. In the event of a change in 
fair value, a revaluation of securities is carried out at the balance sheet date, revaluation results are recognized in 
the Profit and Loss Statement and other comprehensive income. 

Methods of estimating the fair value of debt securities are determined by the Bank's internal regulatory 
documents. During 2017, the Bank used the inputs of level 1, for the determination of fair value, that is, the 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets to which the Bank had access at the valuation date. 

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 

From 1 January 2018, the Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, 
apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. 
Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities in 
2018. 

 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
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 Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 

 The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been 
renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a 
derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly 
recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be 
POCI 

When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers the 
following factors: 

• Change in currency of the loan; 

• Introduction of an equity feature; 

• Change in counterparty; 

• If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion. 

 If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result 
in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a 
modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. 

Derecognition other than for substantial modification 

 Financial assets 

The Bank also derecognises the financial asset if the expiry date stipulated by the agreement on the need for cash 
flows from this financial asset. The Bank also derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the 
financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

 The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; 

Or 

 It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement. 

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash 
flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one 
or more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 

 The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent 
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the 
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates; 

 The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients; 

 The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material 
delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or 
cash equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of 
required remittance to the eventual recipients. 

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 

 The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; 

Or 

 The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset. 

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset 
in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing 
additional restrictions on the transfer. 
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When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained 
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement, 
in which case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability 
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained.. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be required 
to pay. 

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset, the 
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case 
of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

 Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying 
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018) 

Overview of the ECL principles. 

As described in Note 3, the adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s loan loss impairment 
method by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking ECL approach. From 1 January 
2018, the Bank has been recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial 
assets not held at FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all 
referred to as ‘financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9. 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected 
credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, 
the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined in Note 4). The Bank’s 
policies for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk are set out in Note 0. 

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.. 

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the 
nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments. The Bank’s policy for grouping financial assets 
measured on a collective basis is explained in Note 0. 

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a 
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change 
in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. This is further explained in 
Note 0  

Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2,Stage 3 and POCI, as described below: 

 Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs. 
Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified 
from Stage 2 

 Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank 
records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has 
improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

 Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired (as outlined in Note 0). The bank records an 
allowance for the LTECLs. 
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 POCI:  Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are 
credit impaired on initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and 
interest income is subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or 
released to the extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 

For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire 
outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This is 
considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset.  

The calculation of ECLs 

The Bank calculates ECLs based on a four probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows 
that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

 PD The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time 
horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the 
facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. The concept 
of PDs is further explained in Note 0. 

 EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking 
into account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including 
repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, 
expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed 
payments. The EAD is further explained in Note 0. 

 LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default 
occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows 
due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of 
any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The LGD is further 
explained in Note 0. 

When estimating the ECLs, the Bank considers four scenarios (a base case, an upside, a mild downside 
(‘downside 1’) and a more extreme downside (‘downside 2’)). Each of these is associated with different PDs, 
EADs and LGDs, as set out in Note 4. When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how 
defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the loans will cure and the value of 
collateral or the amount that might be received for selling the asset. 

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, for which the treatment is separately set out in 
Note 4, the maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial 
instrument unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier. 

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains that 
are accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value. 

Provisions for ECLs for undrawn loan commitments are assessed as set out in Note 4. The calculation of ECLs 
(including the ECLs related to the undrawn element) of revolving facilities such as credit cards is explained in 
Note 4.  

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below: 

Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date. The Bank calculates the 12mECL allowance based on  the expectation of a 
default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. These expected 12-month 
default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and 
discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. This calculation is made for each of the 
four scenarios, as explained above. 

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records 
an allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including 
the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the 
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instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original 
EIR. 

Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired (as defined in Note 0), the Bank recognises the lifetime 
expected credit losses for these loans. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the 
PD set at 100%. 

POCI POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only 
recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime ECLs since initial recognition, based on a 
probability-weighting of the four scenarios, discounted by the credit- adjusted EIR. 

Loan 

commitments 

When estimating LTECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the Bank estimates the expected 
portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then 
based on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is drawn down, 
based on a probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The expected cash shortfalls are 
discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on the loan. 

For credit cards and revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, 
ECLs are calculated and presented together with the loan. For loan commitments the ECL is 
recognised within Contingencies. 

Financial 

guarantee 

contracts 

The Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially 
recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and the ECL 
provision. For this purpose, the Bank estimates ECLs based on the present value of the 
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs. The shortfalls are 
discounted by the risk-adjusted interest rate relevant to the exposure. The calculation is made 
using a probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The ECLs related to financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised within Contingencies. 

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI 

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in 
the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that 
would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment 
amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in OCI is recycled to the 
profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets. 

Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI) 

 For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognises the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in 
the loss allowance. 

Credit cards and other revolving facilities 

The Bank’s product offering includes a variety of corporate and retail overdraft and credit cards facilities, in 
which the Bank has the right to cancel and/or reduce the facilities with one day’s notice. The Bank does not limit 
its exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period that 
reflects the Bank’s expectations of the customer behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Bank’s future risk 
mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities.  

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving facilities is 
similar to other lending products. This is based on shifts in the customer’s internal credit grade, as explained in 
Note 0, but greater emphasis is also given to qualitative factors such as changes in usage. 

The interest rate used to discount the ECLs for credit cards is based on the average effective interest rate that is 
expected to be charged over the expected period of exposure to the facilities. This estimation takes into account 
that many facilities are repaid in full each month and are consequently charged no interest. 

The calculation of ECLs, including the estimation of the expected period of exposure and discount rate is made, as 
explained in Note 0), on an individual basis for corporate and on a collective basis for retail loans. The collective 
assessments are made separately for portfolios of facilities with similar credit risk characteristics. 

Forward looking information  

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs, such as: 



FREE TRANSLATION FROM THE ORIGINAL IN UKRAINIAN  

JOIN STOCK COMPANY ‘‘ALTBANK’’ 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as at 31.12.2018 

(in thousands of hryvnias) 

23 

 GDP growth ; 

 Unemployment rates; 

 Central Bank base rates; 

 House price indices. 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the 
date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as 
temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material. Detailed information about these inputs 
and sensitivity analysis are provided in Note 0. 

Collateral valuation 

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral 
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, inventories, 
other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. The Bank’s accounting policy for 
collateral assigned to it through its lending arrangements under IFRS 9 is the same is it was under IAS 39. 
Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement of financial position. However, the fair 
value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-
assessed on a quarterly basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining 
requirements, is valued daily. Details of the impact of the Bank’s various credit enhancements are disclosed  

More detailed information on the impact of various means credit quality of the Bank are presented in Note 0  

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other 
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using models. Non-financial 
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as mortgage brokers, or 
based on housing price indices. 

Collateral repossessed 

The Bank’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under IAS 39. The Bank’s policy is to 
determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets 
determined to be useful for the internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower 
of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is 
determined to be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and 
fair value less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the Bank’s policy. 

In its normal course of business, the Bank does not physically repossess properties or other assets in its retail 
portfolio, but engages external agents to recover funds, generally at auction, to settle outstanding debt. Any 
surplus funds are returned to the customers/obligors. As a result of this practice, the residential properties 
under legal repossession processes are not recorded on the balance sheet.. 

Write-offs 

The Bank's accounting policies in accordance with IFRS 9 have not changed in comparison with the policy 
applied in accordance with IAS 39. Financial assets are written off, in part or in full, only when the Bank no 
longer expects reimbursement of their value. If the amount to be written off is higher than the value of the 
accumulated estimated provision for the loss, then the difference is initially accounted for as an increase in the 
estimated provision, which then applies to the gross carrying amount. Any further restoration relates to 
expenses on credit losses. 
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Forborne and modified loans 

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the 
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. 
The Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the 
borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the borrower 
had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or significant 
concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements 
and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured 
using the original EIR as calculated before the modification of terms. It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne 
loans to help ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and 
classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. If these procedures identify a 
loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or 
written off. 

From 1 January 2018, when the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognised, the Bank also 
reassesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, as set out in Note 0 ( look “Credit risk: 
significant increase of credit risk”).The Bank also considers whether the assets should be classified as Stage 3. 
Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain forborne for a minimum 24-month probation period. 
In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the following 
criteria: 

 All of its facilities has to be considered performing; 

 The probation period of two years has passed from the date the forborne contract was considered 
performing; 

 Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during 
at least half of the probation period; 

 The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due. 

Details of forborne assets are disclosed in Note 0.  

If modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognised, as explained in Note 4. 

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable before 1 January 2018) 

The Bank recognizes impairment losses on financial assets when there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are 
determined as the difference between the carrying amount and the current value of expected future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses) discounted at the original effective interest rate for a financial asset. For financial 
assets secured by collateral, the calculation of the current value of future flows reflects cash flows that may arise 
as a result of recovery, irrespective of the probability of recovery. 

If the amount of impairment loss decreases in the subsequent period and this reduction can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss, the previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed. 

The determination of the amount of impairment losses is based on an analysis of the financial assets risk and 
reflects the amount that, in the management's opinion, is sufficient to cover the losses incurred. Reserves are 
created as a result of an individual or collective (group) valuation of financial assets, the amounts of which are 
not individually significant. 

Future cash flows in financial assets group that are collectively assessed for impairment are calculated based on 
contractual cash flows from assets and management experience in relation to changes in the amount of overdue 
debts of borrowers grouped together based on similar characteristics of credit risk. In order to determine what 
amount of compensation can be obtained by grouping financial assets in the light of experience, historical data is 
adjusted to existing conditions that were not taken into account in previous periods, and conditions that existed 
in the past and which do not exist at this time are excluded. . 
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Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss as they result from one or more events ("loss events") 
occurring after the initial recognition of the financial asset, and the total amount of impairment losses is 
deducted from the amount of assets shown in the statement of financial position state. Factors that the Bank 
takes into account when determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment of financial assets 
include information on significant changes in liquidity and solvency indicators, a reduction in net operating 
income, a significant reduction in the internal rating, a breach of contract terms of payment interest and 
principal amount of debt, likelihood of bankruptcy or financial reorganization, levels and trends of maturity over 
similar financial assets, national and local economic trends and conditions, as well as the fair value of collateral 
and guarantees. These and other factors, individually or collectively, in the opinion of the management, provide 
objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset or group of financial assets has been incurred. 
The main criteria to be taken into account in determining the impairment of financial assets are their past due 
status and the possibility of implementing appropriate collateral. 

The Bank records impairment losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost using the provision account, 
and financial assets measured at cost using direct write-offs 

Cash and cash equivalents..  

 For the purpose of preparation of these financial statements cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
balances on correspondent and time deposit accounts with the National Bank of Ukraine, including deposit 
certificates of the National Bank of Ukraine, balances on correspondent accounts with other banks, except for 
guarantee deposits and balances on correspondent accounts with other banks, which were recognized as 
impairment in the form of provisions calculated on individual basis. Due from other banks and provisions for 
impairment of correspondent accounts with other banks are recognized as part of other financial assets until 
January 1, 2018. 

From 1January  2018, the Bank, in cash and cash equivalents, includes cash on hand, balances on correspondent 
and time deposit accounts with the National Bank of Ukraine, including the National Bank of Ukraine deposit 
certificates, balances on correspondent accounts accounts with other banks, net of impairment in the form of 
provisions, except for guarantee deposits and recognized impairment in the form of provisions for such deposits. 
Cash coverage in the form of guarantee deposits placed in other banks is disclosed in the Funds in banks. 

Due from banks.  

In the normal course of business the Bank provides cash or places deposits with other banks for different 
periods. Due from banks with fixed maturities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Cash without fixed maturities is carried at amortized cost in accordance with expected maturity 
dates of such assets. Due from banks are carried net of any allowance for impairment.  

Loans to customers. 

Loans to customers are debt financial assets that are not derivative financial instruments with fixed or 
determinable payments. Loans to customers are held by the Bank within the framework of a business model 
whose purpose is to hold financial assets for cash flows. The sale (deferral of the right to loan debt) occurs only 
with the aim of minimizing potential credit losses as a result of deterioration in the credit quality of assets, which 
is an integral part of this business model. Characteristics of contractual cash flows indicate that they are 
exclusively payments on account of the principal amount of debt and interest on the outstanding part of the 
principal amount of the debt. Loans to customers are initially recognized at fair value, taking into account the 
related transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or creation of such financial assets. In the case where 
the fair value of the consideration provided differs from the fair value of the loan, for example, if the loan is 
provided at a rate below the market value, the difference between the fair value of the consideration provided 
and the fair value of the loan is recognized in the income statement and other comprehensive income. 
Subsequently, loans are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Loans to customers are 
shown net of any allowance for impairment losses. 

Fixed assets and intangible assets.  

Fixed and intangible assets are represented at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment. 

Historical cost of fixed assets consists of their initial cost, taking into account all expenses associated with the 
acquisition, delivery, installation and commissioning of these assets.  
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All intangible assets of the Bank have a final term of use and mainly include software and licenses for the right to 
use software products. 

Carrying value of fixed and intangible assets are amortized for the purpose of gradual write-off of assets during 
their expected useful lives. they are depreciated on the straight-line method at the following annual rates and the 
useful lives applied: 

- machinery and equipment - 6 years and 7 months with depreciation rate of 15% 

- vehicles - 6 years and 7 months with depreciation rate of 15%; 

- tools, appliances, inventory (furniture) - 6 years and 8 months with depreciation rate from 6% to 15%; 

- other fixed assets – 12 years with depreciation rate of 12%; 

- renovation of leased premises - during the lease term; 

- software - 10 years with depreciation rate of 10%; 

- other intangible assets - up to 10 years with depreciation rate up to 10%; 

- depreciation of low-value non-current fixed assets is recognised in the first month of asset use at 100% 
of its value. 

In 2018  useful lives of fixed and intangible assets were reviewed but not changed compared to last year. 

The improvement of the leased property is amortized over the lease term or the useful life of the leased asset, 
whichever is shorter. Asset repair and renovation expenses are accrued as they are incurred and recognized in 
operating expenses if they are not capitalized. 

Improvement costs that lead to increase of initially expected benefits from fixed assets use, increase the initial or 
revalued value of these assets. Fixed assets repair and maintenance expenses are recognized as incurred in the 
Bank’s expenses 

Fixed and intangible assets are derecognized after disposal or when it is no longer expected to receive future 
economic benefits from their continued use. 

Profit (loss) from sale of fixed assets, calculated as the difference between the amount received and the asset 
carrying value,, is recognized in the Statement of comprehensive income. 

Carrying value of fixed and intangible assets is revised at each reporting date to determine the possible excess of 
its carrying amount over the cost of recovery. If carrying amount of an assets exceeds the expected value of the 
consideration, it is reduced to the amount of consideration. 

The amount of consideration is the higher of: fair value less costs of sale and cost of use. Impairment is 
recognized in the appropriate period and included in operating expenses. 

Investment property. 

Non-current assets are classified as investment property if they are real estate (land, building, part of a building 
or a combination thereof) held by the Bank to: 

- gain profit as a result of increase in its market value in the long run; 

- obtain lease (rent) payments. 

At initial recognition the Bank measures and carries investment property at initial cost, which includes its 
acquisition cost and all costs directly related to its acquisition. Expenses of repair and maintenance of 
investment property are recognized in profit or loss during as incurred. 

After initial recognition investment property is measured and carried at fair value (revalued amount) with 
recognition of changes in fair value through profit or loss, without recognition of amortization and impairment. 
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Assets available for sale.  

The Bank classifies non-current assets (or a disposal group) as available for sale if their carrying amount is 
recovered through sale, but not through their use. For this purpose, non-current assets shall be available for 
immediate sale in their present condition and only under regular conditions for selling such assets, with a high 
probability of their sale. 

High probability of sale means the firm intention of the Bank's management to sell a non-negotiable asset (or a 
disposal group) and start of active actions to find a buyer. Subsequently, a non-current asset (or a disposal 
group) shall be actively offered for sale at a reasonable price that is,based on its present fair value. In addition, 
presentation of a sale transaction as completed shall be expected within one year from the date a non-current 
assets is classified as available for sale. 

The Bank measures an asset (or a disposal group) classified as available for sale at a lower of: its carrying 
amount or fair value less costs of sale. The Bank recognizes impairment loss from any initial or subsequent asset 
write-off to its fair value less cost of sale, if events or changes in circumstances indicate a possible reduction in its 
carrying amount. 

Income tax.  

Income tax is recognized in the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the effective or 
substantively effective Ukrainian legislation at the end of the reporting period. The expenses (reimbursement) 
on Income tax include current and deferred taxes and are recognized in profit or loss for the year unless they are 
required to be reflected in other comprehensive income or directly in equity due to the transactions in the 
income statement, which are also included in other comprehensive income or directly in equity in the same or in 
any other reporting period. 

Current tax is the amount, which, as expected, is due to or from tax authorities based on taxable profit/ loss for 
the current or previous periods. Taxable profit or loss is based on the estimates if the financial statements are 
approved before appropriate tax returns are submitted. Other taxes, apart from income tax, are recorded in 
administrative and other operating expenses. 

Deferred tax is the amount, which, as expected, is due to be paid or repaid on the difference between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and appropriate tax base used for taxable income 
calculation and is accounted using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible taxable differences can be 
utilised. Such assets and liabilities will not be recognized if the temporary differences arise from the initial 
recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that does not affect the amount of tax or accounting 
profit. 

Carrying amount of deferred tax assets is revised as at each reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that future taxable profit, sufficient to recover this asset fully or partially, will be available. 

Deferred tax is recognized in the Statement of comprehensive income, except in cases when it relates to terms 
directly attributable to equity, when deferred tax is also recognized in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset and presented in the Statement of financial position 
when; 

- the Bank has a legally enforceable right to repay current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and 

- deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax is levied by the same tax authority on 
the same taxpayer. 
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Contingent assets. 

Contingent assets are not recognized in the Statement of financial position, but disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements when it is probable to receive economic benefits. 

Contingent liabilities.  

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the Statement of financial position, but disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements, except in cases when the outflow of resources as a result of repayment is insignificant. 

Provisions for contingent liabilities 

Provisions for contingent liabilities are recognized when the Bank has a current legal or constructive obligation 
arising as a result of past events, and it is probable that the outflow of resources embodying certain economic 
benefits is required to settle this obligation; and the size of such obligations can be reliably estimated. Provisions 
for contingent liabilities are measured in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets, which require sapplication of estimates and judgments of the management 

Share capital and share premium. 

 Contributions to the share capital are recognized at their initial cost. Share premium is the excess of 
contributions over the nominal value of shares issued and their placement cost. Gains and losses from sale of 
own shares are recognized in share premium. 

Dividends from ordinary shares are recognized in equity as a decrease in equity in the period it was announced. 
In accordance with IAS 10 Subsequent Events, dividends declared after the balance sheet date are considered as 
subsequent events and are disclosed accordingly. 

 Reserve capital. 

Reserve, presented in equity (other comprehensive income) in the Statement of financial position of the Bank, 
includes a revaluation reserve of financial instruments at fair value with a reflection of the revaluation result in 
other comprehensive income. 

Other income from transactions with shareholders.  

Non-repayable financial assistance or equipment received free of charge from shareholders, as well as the 
difference between fair value of extended loans and contractual value of transactions with the Bank’s 
shareholders is recognized in other income from operations with shareholders. 

Staff costs  

Staff costs, contributions to the state social funds, paid annual vacations, disability payments, bonuses, as well as 
non-monetary rewards are accrued in the year, in which the relevant services were provided by employees. The 
Bank, in accordance with the legislation of Ukraine, transfers single social contribution to the state social funds, 
including: pension, social insurance for temporary disability, compulsory state social insurance against 
unemployment and social insurance against accidents. 

Funds transferred to state-owned social funds are recognized as expenses of the Bank as paid. Staff costs also 
comprise cost of provisions for vacation pay and bonuses . The Bank does not have any other payment obligation 
after employee redundancy or other substantial payments that require accrual. 

Lease agreements.  

A lease agreement, in which a significant part of the risks and benefits associated with the ownership right 
remains with the lessor, is classified as operating lease. Payments under operating lease agreement and any lease 
benefits received are recognized in the Statement of comprehensive income in equal parts during the lease term. 

Operating segments. 

Operating segments are components of the Bank that carry out its business activities (receive income, incur 
expenses), which reports are regularly analyzed by people responsible for making operating decisions and for 
which separate financial information is available. 
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A person responsible for making decisions is the person or a group of people that distribute the Bank's resources 
and evaluate results of its activities. The Management Board of the Bank functions as the person responsible for 
making decisions that analyzes the internal reports in order to assess the Bank’s performance and distribute its 
resources. 

The criteria for recognizing reportable segments. Reportable segment is a distinguishable component that 
provides a product or service (or a group of interrelated products or services) and is subject to risks and 
rewards that are different from those of other segments. Income, including both sales to external customers and 
intersegment sales or transfer pricing transactions, is 10% (or more) of the combined (internal and external) 
income from all operating segments. 

According to the above, operating segments of the Bank include: 

- services to individuals: this business segment provides banking services to clients individuals, including 
opening and servicing current and savings accounts, deposits, treasury services, credit card services, 
lending, etc.; 

- services to corporate clients: this business segment provides servicing current accounts, deposits, 
providing loans in various forms, foreign currency purchase and sale, etc.; 

- centralized treasury banking operations: a business segment that organizes Bank’s financing and risk 
management by raising funds in financial markets, issuing securities, investing in liquid assets. 

Transactions between segments are arm’s-length transaction. Resources are redistributed between segments, 
which raises segment transfer price income or expense that is recognized in operating result. There are no other 
existing significant redistributions between segments. Segment assets and liabilities make up the most part of 
profit/loss and tax consequences are not excluded. Equity is not attributable to segments, except for results of 
the current year segment and other comprehensive income. 
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5. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions  

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized as at the 
date of the financial statements, as well as the amounts of income and expenses for the reporting period. 
Estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that management 
takes into account. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 

Judgments, estimates and basic assumptions are regularly reviewed. Revised estimates are recognized in the 
accounting in the period they were revised and further applied in all subsequent periods. Professional judgments 
that have the most significant impact on the amounts presented in the financial statements and estimates that 
may result in significant adjustments to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities during the next fiscal year 
include:  

Going concern. This financial statements have been prepared based on the assumption that the Bank is able to 
continue as a going concern in the nearest future. The management and shareholders intend to further develop 
the Bank's activities. The management believes that application of the assumption about the Bank's ability to 
continue as a going concern is adequate, taking into account the proper level of capital adequacy, shareholders' 
intentions to support the Bank, as well as historical experience indicating that short-term liabilities will be 
refinanced in the ordinary course of business.  

Fair value of investment property. Investment property is subject to regular revaluations. Revaluation is based 
on the valuation of an independent appraiser, who uses professional judgments and estimates to identify similar 
constructions, asset useful life, and income capitalization rates. 

Deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary differences included in tax expenses, to 
the extent where it is probable to receive tax income, against, which temporary differences that reduce taxable 
income can be realized. Estimation of this probability is based on the managements’ forecast of the future taxable 
profit and supplemented by subjective judgments. 

Initial recognition of related party transactions. In the ordinary course of business, the Bank carries out 
transactions with related parties. IFRS 9 requires accounting for financial instruments under initial recognition 
at fair value. In the absence of an active market professional judgment is used to such transactions to determine 
whether such transactions are priced at market or non-market rates. This judgment is based on pricing for 
similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis. 

Impairment losses on financial The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 across all 
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future 
cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant 
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different 
levels of allowances. 

The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding 
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered 
accounting judgements and estimates include: 

 The Bank’s internal credit grading model; 

 The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances 
for financial assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment; 

 The combining of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a group basis; 

 Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs; 

 Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as 
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs; 

 Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the 
economic inputs into the ECL models 

It has been the Bank’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust 
when necessary. 
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6. New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Bank applied IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 for the first time. The nature and impact of changes resulting from the 
application of IFRS 9 are described in Note 3. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of these 
new accounting standards are described below.  

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2018, but do not have an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations 
or amendments that have been issued, but are not yet effective. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations and it applies, 
with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step 
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer.  

IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and 
circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also 
specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to 
fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires extensive disclosures.  

The Bank adopted IFRS 15 using the full retrospective method of adoption. The effect of the transition on the 
current period has not been disclosed as the standard provides an optional practical expedient. The Bank did not 
apply any of the other available optional practical expedients. 

The changes did not affect either the financial position or the financial results of the Bank. 

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property 

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or 
development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the 
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in 
use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change 
in use. These amendments do not have any impact on the Banks financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions  

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting 

conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 

payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a modification 

to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity 

settled. On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 

application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Bank’s accounting policy for 

cash-settled share based payments is consistent with the approach clarified in the amendments. In addition, the Bank has 

no share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations and had not made any 

modifications to the terms and conditions of its share-based payment transaction. Therefore, these amendments do not 

have any impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts  

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments standard, IFRS 9, 
before implementing IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which replaces IFRS 4. The amendments introduce two 
options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an overlay 
approach. These amendments are not relevant to the Bank. 
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Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

Clarification that measuring investees at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice  

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, 
at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates  and joint 
ventures at fair value through profit or loss. If an entity that is not itself an investment entity, has an interest in 
an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, then it may, when applying the equity method, elect to 
retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment 
entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment 
entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which: (a) the investment entity associate or joint 
venture is initially recognised; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the 
investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent. These amendments do not have any impact 
on the Bank’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 

Deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters. 

Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 1 were deleted because they have now served their 
intended purpose. These amendments do not have any impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 
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7. Standards issued but not yet effective  

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 
issuance of the Bank’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these new and 
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.  

IFRS 16 Leases  

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance 
sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to 
make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset 
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest 
expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. 

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change 
in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 
determine those  payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease 
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will 
continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two 
types of leases: operating and finance leases. 

IFRS 16, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, requires lessees and lessors 
to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 

The Bank assessed the impact on the financial statements from the application of IFRS 16 in the following 
amounts: increase in assets and liabilities of the Bank by UAH 10 million. for those lease agreements that meet 
the requirements of IFRS 16. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard 
for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 
17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of 
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that 
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A 
few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance 
contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are 
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for 
insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, 
supplemented by: 

 Specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach) 

 Simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts 

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with comparative figures 
required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before  the 
date it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Bank.  

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment  

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that 
affects the application of IAS 12 and does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it 
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The 
Interpretation specifically addresses the following: 

 whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; 
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 the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; 

 how an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates; 

 how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. 

An entity has to determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or 
more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty should 
be followed. The interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, 
but certain transition reliefs are available. The Bank will apply the interpretation from its effective date.  

The Bank does not expect these disclosures have impact on the financial statements of the Bank.  

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for 
that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of 
the event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays 
or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract. 

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2019, with earlier 
application permitted. These amendments have no impact on the financial statements of the Bank. 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture  

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of  a 
subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that the gain  or 
loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between  an 
investor and its associate or joint venture, is recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or 
contribution of assets that do not constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated 
investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these 
amendments indefinitely, but an entity that early adopts the amendments must apply them prospectively. The 
Bank does not expect these amendments have impact on the financial statements of the Bank. 

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement  

The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs 
during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to: 

 Determine current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) 
reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event; 

 Determine net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement using: the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan 
and the plan assets after that event; and the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit 
liability (asset). 

The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, 
without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recognised in profit or loss.  An entity then 
determines the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any change in that 
effect, excluding amounts included in the net interest, is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The amendments apply to plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements occurring on or after the beginning  of 
the first annual reporting period that begins on or after 1 January 2019, with early application permitted. 
Application is allowed. The Bank does not expect these amendments have impact on the financial statements of 
the Bank.  
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Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture to 
which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant because it implies that the expected credit loss 
model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-term interests. 

The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of the 
associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as adjustments to the net 
investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures. 

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2019, with early application 
permitted. Since the Bank does not have such long-term interests in its associate and joint  venture, the 
amendments will not have an impact on its financial statements. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS, 2015-2017 (Issued in December 2017) 

These improvements include:  

IFRS 3 Business Combinations  

The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it applies the 
requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring previously held interests in 
the assets and liabilities o f the joint operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire 
previously held interest in the joint operation. 

An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application 
permitted. These amendments will apply on future business combinations of the Bank. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  

A party that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain joint control of the 
joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3. The 
amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that joint operation are not remeasured. 

An entity applies those amendments to transactions in which it obtains joint control on or after the beginning of 
the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 20 19, with early application permitted. The 
Bank does not expect these amendments have impact on the financial statements of the Bank. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes 

The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly to past 
transactions or events that generated distributable profits than to distributions to owners. Therefore, an entity 
recognises the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity 
according to where the entity originally recognised those past transactions or events. 

An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with 
early application is permitted. When an entity first applies those amendments, it applies them to the income tax 
consequences of dividends recognised on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period. Since the 
Bank’s current practice is in line with these amendments, the Bank does not expect any effect on its financial 
statements. 

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 

The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally made to 
develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its intended 
use or sale are complete. 

An entity applies those amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity applies those amendments for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, wi th early application permitted. Since the 
Bank’s current practice is in line with these amendments, the Bank does not expect any effect on its financial 
statements. 
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8. Transition disclosures 

The following pages set out the impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, and retained 
earnings including the effect of replacing IAS 39’s incurred credit loss calculations with IFRS 9’s ECLs. A 
reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS 39 to the balances reported under IFRS 9 as of 1 January 
2018 is, as follows: 

 
Ref 

IAS 39 measurement 
Reclassifi
cation 

Remeasure
ment 
ECL 

Other 
IFRS 9 

 
Category Amount Amount Category 

Financial assets                
Cash and cash 

equivalents  
Loans and 
receivables 

350 114 4 (5 216) (4) 344 898 
Amortised 
cost 

From: 
Other assets 

1      4 - (4) 
 

  

Due to banks 
 

 
 

6 970 (962) - 6 008 
Amortised 
cost 

From: 
Other assets 

2      6 970 (962) - 
 

  

Other assets  
 

Loans and 
receivables 

7 731 (6 974) (118) 4 643 
Amortised 
cost 

To: Cash 
and cash 
equivalents 

A      (4) - 4 
 

  

To: Due 
from banks 

B      (6 970) -  - 
 

  

Loans to 
customers  

Loans and 
receivables 

87 137 - (48)  87 089 
Amortised 
cost 

    
Loans and 
receivables 

444 982 - (6 344)  438 638 
Amortised 
cost 

Securities at 
fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

 
Held for sale 

64 214 (64 214) - - - 

 To: Debt 
instruments at 
FVOCI  

3      (64 214) - - 
 

  

Cash and cash 
equivalents  Held for sale 

11 (12) - 1 - 

 To: 

Equity 
instruments 
FVOCI 

4      (12) - 1 
 

  

Investments 
in securities    

- 64 226 
 

(1) 64 225 

 - Debt 
instruments at 
FVOCI 

 

 

 
64 214 - - 64 214 

FVTOCI 

                                                           
1

 As of 1 January 2018, the Bank’s analysis highlighted that in the other assets, balances were recorded on the correspondent 
account. Considering that balances on a correspondent accounts are managed within a business model of collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, The bank has reclassified them in Cash and cash equivalents at 
amortised cost. The analysis conducted by the Bank showed that as of January 1, 2018, balances with the correspondent 
account were accounted for in other assets. Considering that funds for correspondent accounts are kept by the Bank within 
the framework of a business model whose purpose is to hold financial assets for cash flows, the Bank has reclassified them 
into the item Cash for accounting at amortized cost.  
2 As of 1 January 2018, the Bank’s analysis highlighted that in the other assets balances on guarantee deposits and due from 
other banks in estimates were accounted for. Considering that balances are managed within a business model of collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, The bank has reclassified them in Due from banks at amortised cost.  
3 As of 1 January 2018, the Bank has assessed its liquidity portfolio which had previously been classified as AFS debt 
instruments. The Bank concluded that these instruments are managed within a business model of collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial assets. Accordingly, the Bank has classified these investments as debt instruments measured at 
FVTOCI. 
4 Bank has elected the option to irrevocably designate some if its previous AFS equity instruments as Equity instruments at 
FVOCI. 
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Ref 

IAS 39 measurement 
Reclassifi
cation 

Remeasure
ment 
ECL 

Other 
IFRS 9 

 
Category Amount Amount Category 

From: 
Securities at 
fair value 
through profit 
or loss  

C      64 214 - - 
 

  

- Equity 
instruments 
FVOCI 

 

 

 
12 - (1) 11 FVTOCI(by 

bank) 
From: 

securities – 

available-for-
sale 

D      12 - (1)     

    
Held for sale 

64 
225 

- - - 64 225 FVTOCI 

Non-financial 
assets 

  
  

         
  

Deferred 
tax assets 

1  

 

12 
771 

- - (53) 12 718 

 
Total assets     

521 
978 

- (6 344) (53) 515 581   

Non-financial 
liabilities 

               

Estimated 
liabilities  

 
 

- - 12  12  

Total 
liabilities 

    - - 12  12  

 

  

                                                           
1 The effect of applying IFRS 9 to deferred tax is disclosed on the next page and in Note 0. 
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Impact of changes of the articles of the Statement of financial position for IAS 39 and IFRS 9 as at 31 December 
2017  

  
Amount 

IAS 39 
Reclassification 

Reme-
asurement 

ECL 
Other 

Amount 
IFRS 9 

ASSETS           

Cash and cash equivalents 350 114 4 (5 216) (4) 344 898 

Due from banks - 6 970 (962) - 6 008 

Securities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

64 214 (64 214) - - - 

Loans to customers 87 137 - (48) - 87 089 

Investments in securities  - 64 226 - (1) 64 225 

Securities – available-for-sale 11 (12) - 1 - 

Investment property 1 335 - - - 1 335 

Current tax assets 1 333 - - - 1 333 

Deferred tax assets 12 771 - - (53) 12 718 

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

13 863 - - - 13 863 

Other assets 7 731 (6 974) (118) 4 643 

Non-current assets held for sale 720 - - - 720 

Total assets 539 229 - (6 344) (53) 
532 
832 

LIABILITIES           

Due to banks 1 842 - - - 1 842 

Due to customers 309 223 - - - 309 223 

Other liabilities 7 330 - - - 7 330 

Estimated liabilities - - 12  12 

Total liabilities 318 395 - 12 - 
318 
407 

Equity            

Share capital 205 000 - - - 205 000 

Share premium and other income from 
transactions with shareholders  

27 445 - - - 27 445 

Reserves revaluation - - 242 - 242 

Uncovered loss  (11 611) - (6 651) - 
(18 

262) 

Total equity 220 834 - (6 409) - 
214 
425 

Total liabilities 539 229 - (6 397) - 
532 
832 
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Impact of changes in the lines of Profit and loss account under IAS 39 and IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2017: 

  2017 Revaluation 2017 (restated) 

Interest income  40 379   2 031   42 410  

Interest expenses  (6 031)  -   (6 031) 

Net interest income / (expense) before  allowance 
for impairment losses on interest bearing assets  

 34 348   2 031   36 379  

Net change in allowance for impairment losses on 
interest bearing assets  

 361   (361)  -  

Net interest income  34 709   1 670   36 379  

Commission income  19 011   -   19 011  

Commission expenses  (1 819)  -   (1 819) 

Net commission income  17 192   -   17 192  

Net change in provisions for impairment of other 
assets 

 (28)  28   -  

Net change in provisions for liabilities   (1 352)  1 352   -  

Credit losses  -   (1 018)  (1 018) 

Gains less losses from foreign currency 
transactions  

 1 179   (1 179)  -  

Gains less losses from revaluation of foreign 
currency  

 (299)  299   -  

Net income from foreign currency transactions   -   880   880  

Gains less losses from transactions with securities 
at fair value through profit or loss  

 2 274   (2 274)  -  

Other income  1 177   -   1 177  

Net operating income  54 852   (242)  54 610  

Personnel expenses   -   (22 280)  (22 280) 

Depreciation and impairment   -   (1 461)  (1 461) 

Gains less losses from revaluation of investment 
property  

 (663)  -   (663) 

Other expenses  (49 114)  23 741   (25 373) 

Total Operation expences   (49 777)  -   (49 777) 

Profit before tax   5 075   (242)  4 833  

Income tax expense   3 905   -   3 905  

Profit for the year   8 980   (242)  8 738  
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  2017 Revaluation 2017 (restated) 

Other comprehensive income        

Aticles that will not be reclassified to the income 
statement  

    

 Change in the fair value of equity instrument   -   (1)  (1) 

Items that will be reclassified to the income 
statement    

Change in the fair value of investments at fair 
value through OCI  

 -   296   296  

Effect of change in fair value on deferred 
income tax 

 -   (53)  (53) 

Other comprehensive income   -   242   242  

Total comprehensive income for the year   8 980   -   8 980  

Impact on retained earnings and revaluation reserve for transition to IFRS 9: 

 Revaluation 
reserves  

Retained 
earnings/(accu

mulated deficit)  

Revaluation reserve for financial assets at fair value through 
revaluation of other comprehensive income 

  

As at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 -  

Reclassification of securities at FVPL to Investments in securities at 
FVTOCI  

296  

Changes in revaluation results of equity instruments  (1)  

Impact on income tax related to changes in the revaluation of debt 
financial instruments  

(53)  

As at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 242  

Retained earnings  

As at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39  (11 611) 

Recognition of provision for expected credit losses under IFRS 9  (6 356) 

Reclassification of securities at FVPL to Investments in securities at 
FVTOCI  

 (296) 

Changes in revaluation results of equity instruments   1 

As at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9  (6 651) 

At 31 December 2017 (adjusted balance) 242 (18 262) 

The effect of major changes in the profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows: 

- The result of operations with securities in the trading portfolio of the bank was presented as interest 
income and other comprehensive income 

- Net changes in provisions for impairment losses on interest bearing assets and net changes in provisions 
for impairment of other assets were consolidated into net changes from impairment of financial assets. 

- Also, from the article administrative and other expenses separately allocated personnel expenses and 
depreciation and amortization expenses. 
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The reconciliation of the changes to the profit and loss account is presented in the table below: 

 

According to 
preliminary 

report 
Reclassification 

After 
reclassification  

The result of transactions with securities at FVPL  2 274 (2 274) - 

Interest income   2 031 2 031 

Other comprehensive income: Change in the fair value of 
investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  

- 296 296 

Other comprehensive income: Effect of change in fair 
value on deferred income tax  

- (53) (53) 

 2 274  - 2 274  

Net changes in provisions for impairment losses on 
interest bearing assets  

361 (361) - 

Net changes in provisions for impairment of other assets  (28) 28 - 

Credit losses expenses - 334 334 

Other comprehensive income: Change in the fair value of 
equity instruments  

- (1) (1) 

 333 - 333 

Changing the presentation of information in the Statement of Cash Flows in connection with the transition to 
IFRS 9: Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of drawing up the Statement of Cash Flows : 

 

  
According to 
preliminary 

report 
Reclassification 

After 
reclassification 

Cash and cash equivalents   350 114 (5 216) 344 898 

Decrease in the amount of accrued income  (1 136) -  (1 136) 

Increase in the amount of provisions for impairment 
of cash and cash equivalents  

-  5 220 5 220 

Total cash and cash equivalents   348 978 4 348 982 

Net changes in trading securities (32 147) 32 147 - 

Net changes in investments in securities  (32 147) (32 147) 

Net changes in other assets 6 334 (6 245) 89 

Net change in due from banks - (6 249) 6 249 
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017  

Cash 28 997 12 505 

Funds with the National Bank of Ukraine 23 234 13 869 

Deposit certificates of the National Bank of Ukraine 325 495 266 001 

 377 726  292 375  

Correspondent accounts with banks of:   

Ukraine 74 852 57 739 

other countries 1 4 

 74 853 57 743 

Less allowance for estimated ECL/impairment loss  (283)  (5 220) 

 
452 296 344 898 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of cash flow are as follows: 

 

31 December 
2018 

31 
December 

2017  

Cash and cash equivalents 452 296 344 898 

Decrease in the amount of accrued income  (495)  (1 136) 

Increase in the amount of provisions for impairment of cash and cash 
equivalents 

283  5 220  

Total cash and cash equivalents 452 084 348 982 

Provision for impairment under Cash and cash equivalents   

For cash on hand, funds with the National Bank of Ukraine, deposit certificates of the National Bank of Ukraine , 
no impairment was recognized during 2018 and 2017. 
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Correspondent accounts  

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for 
impairment. Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 
(see "Credit risk: Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the policy for assessing ECL reserves on an 
individual or group basis is described in Note 4 (see "Credit Risk: Grouping of Financial Assets Assessed on a 
Group-Based basis"):  

Internal rating grade 

2018  2017 

Stage 1 Stage 2 

Stage 3 Total 

 

Total Individual Individual  

Performing assets 

    

 

 High grade 74 654 - - 74 654  25 360 

Standard grade 127 - - 127  31 785 

Sub-standard grade 9 - - 9  594 

Past due but not impaired 62 - - 62  - 

 Non- performing assets 

    

 

 Individually impaired - 1 - 1  4 

Total 74 852 1 - 74 853  57 743 

The table below shows the analysis of changes in the gross book value of correspondent accounts:  

Correspondent accounts 
Stage 1 Stage 2 

Stage 3 Total Individual Individual 

  Gross book value as at 1 January 2018 57 739 4 - 57 743 

New assets originated or purchased 17 113 - - 17 113 

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs)  - (3) - (3) 

Transfers to Stage 1  - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications 
not resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 74 852 1 - 74 853 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL reserves for correspondent accounts: 

Correspondent  accounts 
Stage 1 Stage 2 

Stage 3 Total Individual Individual 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2018 5 216 4 - 5 220 

New assets originated or purchased - - - - 

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (4 934) (3) - (4 937) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 
between stages during the year 

- - - - 

Discount amortisation - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 
derecognition 

- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 282 1 - 283 

Changes in the allowance for impairment losses on correspondent accounts in accordance with IFRS 39 during 
2017 included the cessation of recognition of impairment losses of UAH 8 000, and the amount of the estimated 
provision for impairment losses as at 1 January 2018 amounted to UAH 4 000. According to IFRS 9, the amount 
of ECL reserve on correspondent accounts as of 1 January 2018 amounted to UAH 5 220 thousand. 

Unpaid contractual amounts under the Cash and cash equivalents that were written off but still subject to legal 
due diligence procedures were zero as at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2017. 
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10. Due from banks 

Due from banks  are as follows: 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Inter banks collateral  8 537   6 970  

Inter banks Settlements  33   -  

 8 570  6 970 

Less provision for ECL / impairment loss  (1 191)  (962) 

Due from are valued at amortised cost. 

The maximum exposure to a single counterparty as at 31 December 2018 is UAH 8,537 thousand (December 31, 
2017 - UAH 6,970 thousand). 

Provision for impairment « Due from banks » 

Cash deposits placed with other banks 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for 
impairment. Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 0 
(see "Credit risk: Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an 
individual or group basis is described in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: Grouping of financial assets, which are assessed 
on a group basis"). 

Internal rating grade 

2018  2017 

Stage 1 Stage 2 

Stage 3 Total 

 

Total Individual Individual  

Performing assets 

    

 

 High grade 20 - - 20  - 

 Standard grade 8 550 - - 8 550  6 970 

Sub-standard grade - - - -  - 

Past due but not impaired - - - -  - 

Non- performing assets 

    

 

 Individually impaired - - - -  - 

Total 8 570 - - 8 570  6 970 
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The table below shows the analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of funds at banks in providing: 

Cash deposits placed with other banks 
Stage 1 Stage 2 

Stage 3 Total Individual Individual 

Gross book value as at 1 January 2018 6 970 - - 6 970 

New assets originated or purchased 1 567 - - 1 567 

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications 
not resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 8 537 - - 8 537 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL provisions for due from banks in ensuring of: 

Cash deposits placed with other banks 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Individual Individual 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2018 962 - - 962 

New assets originated or purchased - - - - 

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) 213 - - 213 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between 
stages during the year 

- - - - 

Depreciation discount  - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 1 175 - - 1 175 

The change in the estimated provision for impairment losses on inter banks collateral in accordance with IFRS 
39 was not carried out in 2017, and the amount of the estimated provision for impairment losses as of 1 January 
2018 amounted to zero hryvnia. In accordance with IFRS 9, the amount of ECL provision for due from inter 
banks collateral as of 1 January 2018 amounted to UAH 962 thousand. 

As at 31 December 2018, contractual amounts due to banks in the provision of collateral, which were written off 
during the reporting period but which were still subject to legal due diligence procedures, were outstanding at 
zero (2017 - zero). 
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Settlements inter banks 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of funds in calculations for 
settlements inter banks: 

Settlements inter banks 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage 3 Total Collective Collective 

Gross book value as at 1 January 2018 - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased 33 - - 33 

Assets derecognised or matured (excluding write offs) - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 33 - - 33 

The table below shows the analysis of changes in ECL provisions to settlements inter banks: 

Settlements inter banks 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Collective Collective 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2018 - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased - - - - 

Assets derecognised or matured (excluding write offs) 16 - - 16 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between 
stages during the year 

- - - - 

Amortisation of discount - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 16 - - 16 
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The change in the valuation allowance for impairment losses on settlements inter banks in accordance with IFRS 
39 was not made in 2017, and the amount of the estimated provision for impairment losses as of 1 January 2018 
amounted to zero hryvnias. In accordance with IFRS 9, the amount of ECL provision for funds in banks in 
provision as of 1 January 2018 amounted to zero hryvnias. 

As of 31 December 2018, outstanding contractual amounts on funds settled in transactions with banks that were 
written off during the reporting period, but still subject to legal due diligence procedures, were zero (2017 - 
zero). 
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11. Loans to customers 

Loans to customers are as follows: 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Loans to legal entities 142 595 86 926 

Loans to individuals 2 134 211 

 144 729  87 137  

Less provision for ECL / impairment loss  (3 428)  (48) 

 
141 301 87 089 

Loans to customers are measured at amortised cost. 

As at 31 December 2018, the maximum exposure to credit risk per one contractor is UAH 45, 099 thousand (as at 31 
December 2017 -  UAH 40 614 thousand) 

Provision for impairment  for "Loans to customers" 

Loans to legal entities  

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for impairment. 
Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: 
Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual or group 
basis is described in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: Grouping of financial assets, which are assessed on a group basis"). 

Internal rating grade 

2018 

 

2017 

Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage 3 POCI Total  Total Individual Individual 

 Performing 

       High grade 77 264 - - - 77 264 

 

6 155  

Standard grade 5 496 - - - 5 496 

 

40 614  

 Sub-standard grade 25 554 - - - 25 554 

 

40 157  

Past due but not impaired 33 663 - - - 33 663 

 

- 

Non- performing assets 

       Individually impaired - - 618 - 618 

 

- 

Total 141 977 - 618 - 142 595 

 

86 926  
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross book value of loans granted to legal entities: 

Loans to legal entities 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 POCI Total Individual Individual 

Gross book value as at 1 January 2018 86 926 - - - 86 926 

New assets originated or purchased 56 162  - - - 56 162  

Assets derecognised or matured (excluding write offs) - (493) - - (493) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (1 111) 1 111  - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - (618) 618 - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications 
not resulting in derecognition 

- - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 141 977  - 618 - 142 595  

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL provision for loans to legal entities: 

Loans to legal entities 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 POCI Total Individual Individual 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2018 - - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased 2 444  - - - 2 444  

Assets derecognised or matured (excluding write 
offs) 

- (493) - - (493) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (73) 73 - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - (618) 618 - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 
between stages during the year 

- 1 038  - - 1 038  

Amortisation of discount - - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to 
modifications not resulting in derecognition 

- - - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 
calculations 

- - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 2 371 - 618  2 989 

During 2018, there were no write-offs of outstanding contractual amounts for financial assets that were subject to 
procedures for their legal claim. In 2018, the Bank withdrew the claim for bad debts written off from provisions in 
previous years and received a reimbursement of UAH 327 thousand. During 2018 there was no redemption of bad 
debts written off from provisions in previous years (in 2017 - zero hryvnia). 
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The increase in the ECL portfolio valuation provisions is due to an increase in the total portfolio size and transfers 
between the stages as a result of increased credit risk and worsening economic conditions. A more detailed analysis of 
economic factors is provided in Note 0 (see "Credit Risk: Analysis of the Baseline Model for Expected Losses in the 
Case of Multiple Economic Scenarios by Geographic Regions"). 

Loans to individuals 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for impairment. 
Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: 
Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual or group 
basis is described in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: Grouping of financial assets, which are assessed on a group basis"). 

Internal rating grade 

  2018 

 

2017 

Stage  1 Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage 3 POCI Total  Total Individual Collective Individual 

 Performing assets 

 

 

  

 

   High grade - 1 766 - - - 1 766 

 

- 

Standard grade 69 -  - - - 69 

 

167 

Sub-standard grade 299 - - - - 299 

 

44 

Past due but not impaired - - - - - - 

 

- 

Non- performing assets 

 

 

  

 

   Individually impaired - - - - - - 

 

- 

Total 368 1 766  - - - 2 134 

 

211 

The table below shows the analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of loans granted to individuals: 

Loans to individuals 
Stage  1 Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 POCI Total Individual Collective Individual 

Gross book value as at 1 January 2018 49 162 - - - 211 

New assets originated or purchased 319 1 604  - - - 1 923 

Assets derecognised or matured 
(excluding write offs) 

- - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to 
modifications not resulting in 
derecognition 

- - - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 368 1 766  - - - 2 134 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL provisions for loans granted to individuals: 

Loans to individuals 
Stage  1 Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 POCI Total Individual Collective Individual 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2018 48 - - - - 48 

New assets originated or purchased 133 258 - - - 391 

Assets derecognised or matured 
(excluding write offs) 

- - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures 
transferred between stages during the year 

- - - - - - 

Amortisation of discount - - - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to 
modifications not resulting in 
derecognition 

- - - - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for 
ECL calculations 

- - - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 181 258 - - - 439 

As at 31 December 2018, contractual amounts for financial assets that were written off during the reporting period 
but still subject to legal due diligence procedures were zero (zero in 2017). 

During 2018, there were no write-offs of outstanding contractual amounts for financial assets that were subject to 
procedures for their legal claim. In 2018, bad debts written off from provisionss in past years were repaid, in the 
amount of UAH 592 thousand, in 2017 - UAH 361 thousand. During 2018, the Bank withdrew the claim for bad debts 
written off from provisionss in past years and received a reimbursement of UAH 5,673 thousand. 

The increase in the ECL portfolio valuation provisions is due to an increase in the total portfolio size and transfers 
between the stages as a result of increased credit risk and worsening economic conditions. A more detailed analysis of 
economic factors is provided in Note 0 (see " Credit Risk: Analysis of the Baseline Model for Expected Losses in the 
Case of Multiple Economic Scenarios by Geographic Regions").  

Provision for impairment as of 31 December, 2017  

The table below provides an analysis of the estimated impairment loss in accordance with IAS 39 for loans to 
customers broken down by type for the year ended 31 December 2017: 

  Loans to legal entities Loans to individuals Total 

Balance as of January 1, 2017 - - - 

Change in provision during the year - (48) (48) 

Write off bad debts - - - 

Adjustment of interest income on impaired loans - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - 

Balance as of December31, 2017 - (48) (48) 
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12. Investments in securities 

The table below shows the fair value of the Bank’s debt instruments measured at FVOCI 

 

31 December 

 2018 

 31 December 

 2017  

Government bonds denominated in UAH 10 664   49 575   

Government bonds denominated in USD  13 875   14 639   

Shares of enterprises 11   11   

Total securities, held at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

24 550 64 225 

Investments in shares of enterprises are as follows: 

 Types of Activities 31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Shares of enterprises, including:   11 11 

PJSC ‘Settlement Center’ Other monetary intermediation 2 2 

PJSC ‘Ukrainian Stock 
Exchange’ 

Financial markets management 8 8 

PJSC ‘Ukrainian Interbank 
Currency Exchange’ 

Financial markets management 1 1 

PJSC ‘SVIT’ Telecommunication - - 

Total securities net of provisions   11 11 

The Bank, at its discretion, classified investments in equity instruments that were previously classified as held 
for sale as valued at FVTOCI on the grounds that they are not intended for trading. 

 

13. Investment Property 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Investment property at fair value at the beginning of the period 1 335 3 998 

Transfer from / to assets available for sale (Note Error! Reference source not 
ound.) 

- (2 000) 

Gains from the revaluation to fair value  (46) (663) 

Fair value of investment property at the end of the period 1 289 1 335 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018, the investment property represent mainly commercial 
property includes one object of non-residential property. 

The Bank revalued carrying value of investment property based on the conclusion of the independent appraiser 
as of 21 December 2018. 
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14. Fixed assets and intangible assets 

 
Machinery and  

equipment 

Other fixed 
assets 

Construction in 
progress 

Intangible 

assets 
Total 

As at 31 December 2016:  2 089 1 053 3 970 541 7 653 

initial cost   5 833 4 047 3 970 1 883 15 733 

depreciation (3 744) (2 994) - (1 342) (8 080) 

 Additions 2 250 786 10 017 2 588 15 641 

Disposals  (35) (181) (7 683) (71) (7 970) 

Depreciation (741) (485) - (235) (1 461) 

As at 31 December 2017:  3 563 1 173 6 304 2 823 13 863 

initial cost   7 396 3 951 6 304 4 168 21 819 

accumulated 
depreciation 

(3 833) (2 778) - (1 345) (7 956) 

Additions   3 639   94   22 300   5 873   31 906  

Disposals   (1)  -   (9 606)  (146)  (9 753) 

Depreciation  (928)  (426)  -   (800)  (2 154) 

As at 31 December 2018:   6 273   841   18 998   7 750   33 862  

initial cost    10 956   3 941   18 998   9 353   43 248  

depreciation  (4 683)  (3 100)  -   (1 603)  (9 386) 

The initial value of fully depreciated fixed assets is UAH 4 793 thousand, intangible assets is UAH 384 thousand. At the 
reporting date, the Bank has no developed intangible assets. 
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15. Other assets 

Other assets are presented as follows: 

  
31 December 

2018 

31 December  

2017  

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 

Accrued income for banking operations  182   136  

Receivables on operations with customers  1   40  

Other financial assets - 4 

 183 180 

Less provision for ECL / impairment loss  (173)  (141) 

 10   39  

OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 

Receivables on purchase of assets and prepaid services  1 331   231  

Costs of future periods and taxes and fees paid  596   456  

Inventories  10 744   3  

 12 671  690 

Less provision for ECL / impairment loss  (67)  (86) 

 
 12 604   604  

Total other assets less allowance for impairment  12 614   643  

Provision for impairment as at ‘Other assets’ 

Other financial assets  

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for impairment. 
Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: 
Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the policy for assessing ECL provisionss on an individual or group 
basis is described in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: Grouping of financial assets, which are assessed on a group basis"). 

Internal rating grade 

2018  

 

2017 

Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage 3 Total  Total Collective Collective 

 Performing assets 

      High grade - - - - 

 

- 

Standard grade 30 - - 30 

 

71 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

 

- 

Past due but not impaired - - - - 

 

- 

Non- performing assets 

      Individually  impaired - - 153 153 

 

109 

Total 30 - 153 183 

 

180 
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An analysis of gross book value changes with regard to other financial assets, as follows: 

Other financial assets  
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Collective Collective 

Gross book value as at 1 January 2018 71 - 109 180 

New assets originated or purchased 5 - - 5 

Assets derecognised or matured (excluding write-offs) - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (46) - 46 - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Amounts written off - - (2) (2) 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 30 - 153 183 

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECLs is, as follows: 

Other financial assets  
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Collective Collective 

Provision for ECL as at 1 January 2018 32 - 109 141 

New assets purchased - - - - 

Assets derecognised or matured (excluding write-offs) - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (12) - 12 - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between 
stages during the year 

- - 34 34 

Amortisation of discount - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in derecognition - - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - (2) (2) 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 20 - 153 173 

During 2018 there was the disbursement of outstanding contractual amounts for financial assets, including 2017 - 
UAH 2 461 thousand. In 2018 there was no spread of bad debt, drawn from provisionss in past years, in 2017 - 11 
thousand hryvnias. 

Other non-financial assets 

To ensure uninterrupted ordinary activities, the Bank makes purchases of goods and services with delayed delivery. 
For such receivables, the Bank calculates the estimated provision for impairment losses.  
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The table below shows the analysis of the provision for impairment of non-financial receivables from the 
acquisition of assets and services: 

  2018  2017 

Balance as at January 1   (86) (767) 

Change in provision during the period  19  (74) 

Write off bad debts - 755 

Balance as at  December 31   (67) (86) 

During 2018 there was no dismissal of outstanding contractual amounts for non-financial assets, and in 2017 - UAH 
755 thousand. In 2018, there was no condemnation of bad debts, made up of provisionss in past years, in 2017 - zero 
hryvnias. 

Changes in provisions for impairment of other assets for 2017: 

 
Receivables 

from banking 
operations 

Accrued 
income from 

banking 
operations 

Receivables on 

purchase of 

assets and 

prepaid 

services 

Other 
financial 

assets 
Total 

Balance as at January 1, 
2017 

(36) (2 486) (767) (12) (3 301) 

Change in provision during the 
period 

- (48) 12 8 (28) 

Write off bad debts 36 2 425  755 - 3 216 

Balance as at December 31, 
2017 

- (109) - (4) (113) 

Amendments to IFRS 9 - (32) (86) 4 (114) 

Balance as at January 1, 
2018 (listed) 

 (141) (86) - (227) 

In 2017, debts owed in the amount of UAH 11 thousand were repaid. 

16. Non-current assets held for sale 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Fair value at the beginning of the period  720 - 

Transfer from / to investment property (Note 9) - 2 000 

Disposals (720) (1 280) 

Fair value at the end of the period - 720 

17. Due to banks 

 31 December 
2018  

31 December 
2017 

Correspondent accounts of Ukrainian banks 5 850 1 842 

Total due to banks 5 850 1 842 
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18. Customer accounts 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Legal entities: 215 694 107 533 

current accounts 212 645 103 888 

term deposits 2 950 3 642 

inactive accounts 99 3 

Individuals: 223 573 201 690 

current accounts 160 054 192 400 

term deposits 62 055 9 062 

inactive accounts 1 464 228 

Total customer funds 439 267 309 223 

In 2017 the Bank received funds to cover credit risk on guarantees in the amount of UAH 122 thousand. 

An economic sector concentration with customer accounts is as follows: 

 

31 December 2018 31 December  2017 

amount % amount % 

Individuals - residents  168 167   38,3  147 416   47,7  

Wholesale and retail trade  81 038   18,5   76 280   24,7  

Individuals – non-residents  55 406   12,7   54 277   17,6  

Recycling  36 564   8,3   6 439   2,1  

Transport, storage, postal and courier activities   30 072   6,8  -  -  

Construction  23 571   5,4   4 246   1,3  

Information and telecommunication  21 723   4,9   7 878   2,5  

Real estate  2 551   0,6   7 280   2,4  

Legal entities – non-residents  2 415   0,5   2 478   0,8  

Others   17 760   4,0   2 929   0,9  

Total customer accounts  439 267   100   309 223   100  

As at 31 December 2018 customer accounts in the amount of UAH 195 473  thousand (As at 31 December 2017  
UAH 196 988  thousand) respectively were received from five legal entities and individuals. 
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19. Other liabilities 

 

31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Other financial liabilities 
 

 

Ensuring commitment  28 31 

Payables on other financial liabilities 150 2 791 

Total other financial liabilities 178 2 822 

Other non-financial liabilities 
 

 

Payables on settlements with bank employees 1 716 1 117 

Payables on asset acquisition and payment services 1 952 444 

Deferred income 883 487 

Payables on taxes and other mandatory payments other than income tax  409   379  

Provision for contingent liabilities -   1 361  

Payables on the sale of assets  -   720  

Total other non-financial liabilities 4 960  4 508 

Total other liabilities 5 138  7 330  
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20. Conditional and contractual obligations 

In order to meet its financial needs, the Bank assumes various irrevocable contractual obligations and contingent 
liabilities. These include financial guarantees and other loan commitments. Despite the fact that such liabilities 
may not be recognized in the statement of financial position, they bear credit risk and, accordingly, are part of 
the Bank's overall risk appetite. 

In accordance with the terms of the guarantee, the Bank is obliged to make payments on behalf of clients in case 
of occurrence of certain events. Guarantees are subject to the same credit risk as loans. The nominal value of 
such contractual obligations is given in the table below: 

  2018 2017 

Financial guarantees 3 748 4 376 

Other liabilities to provide loans   

Definitely withdrawal credit lines 125 277  85 988  

Irretrievable unused credit lines 6 467  - 

 131 744 85 988 

Less provision for ECL / impairment loss (125) (12) 

Total 135 367 90 352 

 

Impairment losses on guarantees and other contractual obligations 

The analysis of changes in the face value and related provisions for impairment in respect of guarantees and 
other contractual obligations are represented below: 

Financial guarantees 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. Information on the system for assigning the levels of the 
Bank's internal rating is given in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the 
policy for assessing ECL provisionss on an individual or group basis is described in Note 0 (see "Credit risk: 
Grouping of financial assets, which are assessed on a group basis"). 

Exposure to credit risk: 

Internal rating grade 

2018 

 

2017 

Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total  Total Individual Individual 

 Performing assets 

      High grade - - - - 

 

4 376 

Standard grade 1 534 - - 1 534 

 

- 

Sub-standard grade 2 214 - - 2 214 

 

- 

Past due but not impaired - - - - 

 

- 

Non- performing assets 

      Individually impaired - - - - 

 

- 

Total 3 748 - - 3 748 

 

4 376 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in risk exposure: 

Financial guarantees 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Individual Individual 

Risk appetite as at January 1, 2018 4 376 - - 4 376 

New guarantees - - - - 

Guarantees derecognised or matured 
(excluding write-offs) 

(628) - - (628) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to 
modifications not resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 3 748 - - 3 748 

The table below shows the analysis of changes in ECL provisions: 

Financial guarantees 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Individual Individual 

ECL provision as at 1 January 2018 12 - - 12 

New guarantees - - - - 

Guarantees derecognised or matured 
(excluding write-offs) 

(10) - - (10) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures 
transferred between stages during the year 

- - - - 

Amortisation of discount - - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 
calculations 

- - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to 
modifications not resulting in derecognition 

- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 2 - - 2 
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Irretrievable unused credit lines 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. Information on the system for assigning the levels of the 
Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 (see "Credit risk: Bank's internal rating system and PD (PD)"), and the 
policy for assessing ECL provisionss on an individual or group basis is described in Note 4 (see "Credit risk: 
Grouping of financial assets, which are assessed on a group basis"). 

Internal rating grade 

2018 

 

2017 

Stage 1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total  Total Collective Collective 

 Performing assets 

      High grade - - - - 

 

- 

Standard grade 6 467 - - 6 467 

 

- 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

 

- 

Past due but not impaired - - - - 

 

- 

Non- performing assets 

      Individually impaired - - - - 

 

- 

Total 6 467 - - 6 467 

 

- 

The following table shows the analysis of changes in the nominal value of other loan commitments: 

Irretrievable unused credit lines 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage  3 Total Collective Collective 

Risk appetite as at January 1, 2018 - - - - 

New guarantees 6 467 - - 6 467 

Guarantees derecognised or matured (excluding write-offs) - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 

resulting in derecognition 
- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 6 467 - - 6 467 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in provisions for ECLs in relation to other loan commitments: 

Irretrievable unused credit lines 
Stage  1 Stage  2 

Stage 3 Total Collective Collective 

ECL provision as at 1 January 2018 - - - - 

New exposures 123 - - 123 

Exposures derecognised or matured (excluding write-offs) - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between 

stages during the year 
- - - - 

Amortisation of discount - - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations - - - - 

Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 

resulting in derecognition 
- - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2018 123 - - 123 

Legal procedure 

As at 31 December 2018 four claims of the Bank to counterparties for the total amount of UAH 8,972 thousand 
are considered, of which 2 - claims for collection of arrears amounting to UAH 2,622 thousand, 2 - bankruptcy 
proceedings total UAH 6,349 thousand. Also, as of the reporting date courts are considering 2 property claims for 
a total amount of UAH 8,779 thousand and 9 non-personal actions in which the defendant is the Bank.  

Liabilities for operating lease  

Future minimum lease payments operating leases, where the Bank acts as a lessee, as at 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017 are as follows: 

  
31December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Future minimum lease payments     

not more 1 year  1 607   318 

Over 1 year but not more than 5 years  2 180   6 076 

Total liabilities for operating lease   3 787   6 394 
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21. Share capital, share premium and other income from transactions with shareholders 

 31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Number of shares in issue 1 138 888 889 1 138 888 889 

Share capital 205 000 205 000 

Total share capital 205 000 205 000 

Share premium 41 41 

Other income from transactions with shareholders - 27 404 

Provisions and other funds 449 - 

Total share capital, Share premium and provisions funds 232 894 232 445 

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 Registered and paid equity was represented by 1 138 888 889 and 1 138 888 889 
ordinary registered shares with a nominal value of 0.18 UAH each. 

The bearer shares and preferred shares were not issued by the Bank. 

The Bank did not issue shares option or sales agreement terms. 

The profit of the Bank, which is subject to distribution, is limited by the amount of its provisions, the information 
disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with the regulatory requirements for the organization of 
accounting and reporting in banking institutions in Ukraine. Provisions are represented by a contingency fund 
that are not subject to distribution that is created in accordance with the requirements of the current legislation 
and regulations of the National Bank of Ukraine to cover unforeseen losses uncertain risks in conducting banking 
operations. The Contingency Fund of the Bank is created by the decision of the shareholders in the amounts 
stipulated by the legislation, provided that such deductions will amount to not less than 5% of the net profit of 
the Bank. This provisions was created in accordance with the Bank's Charter, which provides for the creation of a 
provisions for these purposes 

In 2018, in accordance with the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders, Minutes №59 dated April 25, 
2018, the income from operations with shareholders received in 2004-2011 in the amount of UAH 27,404 
thousand was directed to cover losses of previous years and retained earnings of previous years. 

At the end of the day on December 31, 2018, the share premium in the amount of UAH 41 thousand (2017 - UAH 
41 thousand), representing the excess of the amounts received on the nominal value of issued shares. 

During 2018 and 2017, the Bank did not pay dividends to its shareholders. 
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22. Revaluation reserve 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Balance at the beginning of the period 242 0 

Changes of revaluation results of equity instruments - (1) 

Changes of revaluation results debt instruments  (239)  296  

Income tax related with revaluation changes of debt financial instruments  43   (53) 

Balance at the end of the period  46   242 

 

23. Net interest income 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

INTEREST INCOME 
 

 

Deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of Ukraine 19 350 26 606 

Loans of customers 20 411 7 509 

Investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 5 575 4 945 

Due from other banks 8 603 3 350 

Total interest income 53 939 42 410 

INTEREST EXPENSES 
 

 

Placements on demand of legal entities  (2 916) (2 715) 

Placements on demand of individuals  (1 186) (2 954) 

Term deposits of individuals  (1 425) (336) 

Term deposits of legal entities  (648) (26) 

Placements on demand of non-bank financial institutions  (21) - 

Total interest expense  (6 196) (6 031) 

Net interest income  47 743  36 379 
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24. Net commission income 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

COMMISSION INCOME 
  

Transactions in foreign exchange market  15 013  9 747 

Settlement and cash transactions  12 133  8 776 

Guarantees issued and off-balance sheet transactions  194  170 

Transactions with securities for customers  135  133 

Credit service  87  79 

Others  279  106 

Total commission income 27 841 19 011 

COMMISSION EXPENSES 
  

Commission expenses on transactions with banks  (3 666) (1 547) 

Settlement and cash transactions  (2 230) (187) 

Depositary services  -  (85) 

Others  (109) - 

Total commission expense  (6 005) (1 819) 

Net commission income 21 836  17 192  
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25. Credit losses  

The table below shows the ECL charges on financial instruments for the year recorded in the income statement: 

  2018   

2017 
 

Note 

Stage 1 Stage 2 
Stage 

3 POCI Total 

 

 
Individual Collective Individual Collective  

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

9 4 934 - 3 - - - 4 937  8 

Due from banks 10 (229) - - - - - (229)  - 

Loans to 
customers 

11 (2 504) (258) - - (618) - 
(3 

380) 
 - 

Investments in 
securities 

0 - - - - - - -  - 

Other assets 15 19 - - - (32) - (13)  (36) 

Other liabilities 19 1 361 - - - - - 1 361  (1 352) 

Estimated 
liabilities 

0 10 (123) - - - - (113)  - 

Total 
Impairment 
loss 

 3 591  (381) 3 - (650) - 2 563  (1 380) 

Repayment of 
bad debts 
written-off from 
provisions in 
past years 

 - - - - - - 6 592   362 

Total credit 
losses 

 - - - - - - 9 155   (1 018) 

In 2018, bad debt previously written off against provisions was repaid in the amount of UAH 592 thousand., 
(2017 - in the amount of UAH 362 thousand). 

In 2018, the Bank withdrew the claim for bad debts written off from reserves in past years and received a 
reimbursement of UAH 6 000 thousand. 

Amounts for 2017 are presented in accordance with IFRS 39 (not recalculated). 

 

26. Net income from foreign currency transactions 

Net income from foreign currency transactions is as follows: 

 
31 

December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Trading operations, net  1 724   1 179  

Exchange differences, net  (538)  (299) 

Total net income from foreign currency transactions 1 186 880 
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27. Other income 

 
31 December 

2018 
31 December 

2017 

Payables written off against income 225 64 

Compensation for operating expenses - 910 

Excess in fixed assets and intangible assets from inventory - 46 

Income from disposal of fixed assets - 141 

Other operating income 118 16 

Total other income 343 1 177 

28. Other expenses 

 

31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Maintenance costs of fixed assets and intangible assets, telecommunication 
and other operational services 

 (6 755)  (4 440) 

Operating lease expense  (4 794)  (4 585) 

Payment cards maintenance expenses  (3 716)  (5 532) 

Payments to the Deposit Guarantee Fund  (1 099)  (732) 

Marketing and advertising expenses  (940)  (1 146) 

Representative expenses  (774)  (14) 

Audit expenses  (555)  (255) 

Participation in conferences and seminars expenses  (550) (560) 

Security expenses  (294)  (218) 

Membership dues   (215)  (145) 

Result from sale / disposal of non-current assets  (128)  (416) 

Costs of collection and transportation of valuables (37) (515) 

Professional services (307) (144) 

Impairment of non-current assets -  (3 970) 

Other expenses  (2 152)  (2 701) 

Total other expenses  (22 316)  (25 373) 
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29. Income tax 

Income tax expense: 

 

31 December 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

Current income tax expense  (59) 

Change in deferred income tax   

Reducing /Temporary differences (3 805) 3 964 

Total (expense) /income tax reimbursement (3 805) 3 905 

The Bank accounts for income tax based on the tax accounting data prepared in accordance with Ukrainian tax 
legislation requirements, which may differ from International Financial Reporting Standards. Permanent tax 
differences have effect on the Bank’s financial statements as certain expenses are not tax deductible and certain 
income is tax exempt.  

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities for the purposes of the financial statements and the amount used for tax purpose. 

The Bank assessed the existence of taxable profits, against which to deduct temporary difference during three 
years and recognized the deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2018 in the amount of UAH 8 956 thousand (as at 
31 December 2017 in the amount UAH 12 718 thousand). The tax legislation in force at the end of 2018 does not 
limit the realization periods for unused tax losses and origination of taxable profit, to deduct temporary 
difference through reversal, but, a longer period is not considered by the Bank due to possible changes in the tax 
legislation. 

Tax Code of Ukraine established 18% income tax rate for 2018 and 2017. 

Reconciliation of accounting and tax profit (loss) for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017: 

 31 
December 

2018 

31 
December 

2017 

Profit / (loss) before tax 22 776 5 075 

Theoretical tax change at the applicable tax rate (4 100) (914) 

Adjustment of accounting profit:   

Tax effect of permanent differences 30 (27) 

Tax losses carried forward 265 4 846 

Income tax expense (3 805) 3 905 

Tax effect related to recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for 2018. 

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

period 
(recalculated) 

Recognized 
through 

 profit/loss 

Recognised 
in equity  

Balance 
at the 

end of   
the 

period 

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary differences 12 718 (3 805) 43 8 956 

Tax losses carried forward 12 718 (3 805) 43 8 956 

Net deferred tax asset 12 718 (3 805) 43 8 956 

Recognized deferred tax asset 12 718 (3 805) 43 8 956 
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Tax effect related to recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for 2017. 

 

Balance at the beginning 
of the period 

Recognize
d through 

profit / loss 

Recogni
sed in 
equity 

Balanc
e at 
the 

end of 
the 

period 

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary 
differences 

8 807 3 964 (53) 12 718 

Tax losses carried forward 8 807 3 964 (53) 12 718 

Net deferred tax asset 8 807 3 964 (53) 12 718 

Recognized deferred tax asset 8 807 3 964 (53) 12 718 
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30. Operating segments  

Information on reportable segments of the Bank for 2018 is presented below. 

Reportable segment assets and liabilities for 2018: 

 

Services to 
individuals 

Services to 
corporate clients 

Centralized 
treasury banking 

transactions 
Total 

Reportable segment assets 11 134 165 047 507 399 683 580 

Reportable segment liabilities 226 626 217 904 5 850 450 380 

Capital investments 3 217 8 670 10 412 22 299 

Depreciation (311) (837) (1 006) (2 154) 

Reportable segment revenues, expenses and profit or loss for 2018: 

 

Services 
to 

individual
s 

Services to 
corporate 

clients 

Centralized 
treasury 
banking 

transactions 

Elimination  Total 

External revenue           

interest income  341   20 070   33 528   -   53 939  

fee and commission income  2 875   17 366   7 600   -   27 841  

Intersegment revenue  6 638   6 850   19 507   (32 995)  -  

Total Income  9 854   44 286   60 635   (32 995)  81 780  

Interest expense  (2 610)  (3 586)  -   -   (6 196) 

Credit losses 7 186 (2 774) 4 743 - 9 155 

Fee and commission expenses  (2 339)  -   (3 666)  -   (6 005) 

The result from operations with 

foreign currency 
 171   461   554   -   1 186  

Other income and other expenses  (8 242)  (22 218)  (26 684)  -   (57 144) 

Intersegment expenses  (100)  (10 103)  (22 792)  32 995   -  

Income tax  (549)  (1 479)  (1 777)  -   (3 805) 

Other comprehensive income  -   -   (196)  -   (196) 

Profit for reportable segment 
before tax 

 3 371   4 587   10 817   -   18 775  
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Below is a reconciliation of total profit for reportable segments to the Bank's total profit for 2018: 

 

Total for 
reportable 

segments 
Adjustment 

Total of the 
Bank 

External revenue       

interest income  53 939  -  53 939  

fee and commission income  27 841  -  27 841  

Intersegment income  -  -  -  

Total Income  81 780  -  81 780  

Interest expense  (6 196) -  (6 196) 

Credit losses 9 155  9 155 

Fee and commission expenses  (6 005) -  (6 005) 

The result from operations with foreign currency  1 186  -  1 186  

Other income and other expenses  (57 144) -  (57 144) 

Intersegment expenses  -  -  -  

Income tax  (3 805) -  (3 805) 

Other comprehensive income  (196)   (196) 

Profit for reportable segment before tax  18 775  -  18 775  

Information on reportable segments of the Bank for 2017 is presented below. 

Reportable segment assets and liabilities for 2017: 

 

Services to 
individuals 

Services to 
corporate clients 

Centralized 
treasury banking 

transactions 
Total 

Reportable segment assets 7 649 94 714 436 866 539 229 

Reportable segment liabilities 206 223 110 330 1 842 318 395 

Capital investments 2 341 2 451 7 091 11 883 

Depreciation (288) (301) (872) (1 461) 
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Reportable segment revenues, expenses and profit or loss for 2017: 

  
Services to 

individuals 

Services to 

corporate 

clients 

Centralized 

treasury 

banking 

transactions 

Elimination Total 

External revenue           

interest income 14 7 495 32 870 - 40 379 

fee and commission income 4 113 5 158 9 740 - 19 011 

Intersegment revenue 9 553 7 498 24 249 (41 300) - 

Total Income 13 680 20 151 66 859 (41 300) 59 390 

Interest expense (3 290) (2 741) - - (6 031) 

Net change in allowance for 
impairment losses on interest 
bearing assets 

361 - - - 361 

Net change in provisions for 
impairment of other assets 

(17) - (8) - (25) 

Net change in provisions for 
liabilities 

(1 352) - - - (1 352) 

Fee and commission expenses (184) (85) (1 550) - (1 819) 

Gains less losses from 
transactions with securities 
designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

- - 2 274 - 2 274 

Gains less losses from foreign 
currency transactions 

173 182 525 - 880 

Gains less losses from 
revaluation of investment 
property 

- - (663) - (663) 

Other income and 
administrative and other 
expenses 

(9 472) (9 919) (28 690) - (48 081) 

Revenues / (expenses) from 
sale of real estate and disposal 
of other assets 

- - 141 - 141 

Intersegment expenses (9) (4 918) (36 373) 41 300 - 

Income tax 769 806 2 330 - 3 905 

Profit for reportable segment 
before tax 

659 3 476 4 845 - 8 980 
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Below is a reconciliation of total profit for reportable segments to the Bank's total profit for 2017: 

 

Total for 
reportablem 

segments 
Adjustment 

Total of the 
Bank 

External revenue       

interest income 40 379 - 40 379 

fee and commission income 19 011 - 19 011 

Intersegment income - - - 

Total Income 59 390 - 59 390 

Interest expense (6 031) - (6 031) 

Net change in allowance for impairment losses on 
interest bearing assets 

361 - 361 

Net changes in provisions for impairment of other assets (25) - (25) 

Net change in provisions for liabilities (1 352) - (1 352) 

Fee and commission expenses (1 819) - (1 819) 

Gains less losses from transactions with securities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss 

2 274 - 2 274 

Gains less losses from foreign currency transactions 880 - 880 

Gains less losses from revaluation of investment 
property 

(663) - (663) 

Other income and administrative and other expenses (48 081) - (48 081) 

Revenues / (expenses) from sale of real estate and 
disposal of other assets 

141 - 141 

Intersegment expenses - - - 

Income tax 3 905 - 3 905 

Total profit for reportable segment before tax 8 980 - 8 980 
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31. Transactions with related parties 

The parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party, either directly or 
indirectly, or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial oroperational decisions. 
Information about the shareholders and owners possessing significant share is disclosed in Note 1. Key 
management personnel is a staff responsible for the management, planning and control of the Bank’s activities, 
including the Chairman and members of the Supervisory Board, the Chairman and members of the Management 
Board, the Chief Accountant. The Chairman of the Management Board is one of the Bank’s shareholders, 
therefore transaction balances and income and expenses in the tables below are included in Key management 
personnel. 

Outstanding balances with related parties at the end of 2018: 

 

Largest 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Loans to customers - 98 - 

contractual interest (%) - 0,001 – 36,0 - 

Customer accounts 80 647 21 023 2 246 

contractual interest (%) 8,0 1,0 – 8,0 1,0 – 7,0 

Other liabilities - - 4 

Income and expenses with related parties for 2018: 

 

Largest shareholders 
of the Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Interest income - 18 - 

Interest expense (189) (653) (125) 

Fee and commission income 223 36 75 

Credit losses (6) (5) - 

Other expenses - (6 940) (189) 

Aggregate amounts lent to and repaid by related parties during 2018: 

 Largest 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Loans granted - 549 - 

Loans repaid - (519) - 

Other rights and liabilities with related parties at the end of  2018: 

 Largest 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Other contingent liabilities to 
customers 

200 246 - 
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Outstanding balances with related parties at the end of 2017: 

 

Largest shareholders 
of the Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Loans to customers - 79 - 

contractual interest (%) - 0,001 - 36,0 - 

Customer accounts 92 531 19 797 54 850 

contractual interest (%) 7,5 1,5 - 7,5 1,5 - 7,0 

Other liabilities - - 4 

Income and expenses with related parties for 2017: 

 

Largest shareholders 
of the Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Interest income - 4 - 

Interest expense (2 225) (318) (138) 

Fee and commission income 13 14 402 

Fee and commission expense - - - 

Other operating income - - 5 

Other expenses - (4 940) (94) 

Aggregate amounts lent to and repaid by related parties during 2017: 

 Largest 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Loans granted 25 204 - 

Loans repaid (25) (125) - 

Other rights and liabilities with related parties at the end of 2017: 

 Largest 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Key management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Other contingent liabilities to 
customers 

300 175 - 

Key management compensation: 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Expenses Expenses 

Current payments to employees (6 873) (4 936) 

Total (6 873) (4 936) 
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32. Fair value 

Analysis of financial instruments carried at amortized cost or at initial cost (present cost): 

 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

fair value book value fair value book value 

Cash and cash equivalents 452 296 452 296 350 114 350 114 

Due from banks 7 379 7 379 6 970 6 970 

Loans to customers 140 821 141 301 86 107 87 137 

Corporate shares through other 
comprehensive income 

- 11 - 11 

Other financial assets 10 10 71 71 

Total financial assets carried at 
amortized cost or present cost 

600 506 600 997 443 262 444 303 

     Due to banks 5 850 5 850 1 842 1 842 

Customer accounts 440 276 439 267 309 164 309 223 

Other financial liabilities 178 178 2 822 2 822 

Total financial liabilities carried at 
amortized cost or present cost 

446 304 445 295 313 828 313 887 

Analysis of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value by level of measurement hierarchy for 2018: 

 

Fair value by measurement models Total fair 
value 

Total book 
value Level І Level ІІ Level ІІІ 

Assets recorded at fair value           

Investments in securities 24 539 - - 24 539 24 539 

Investment property - 1 289 - 1 289 1 289 

Assets at fair value disclosed 
     

Cash and cash equivalents 452 296 - - 452 296 452 296 

Due from banks  7 379  7 379 7 379 

Loans to customers - 140 821 - 140 821 141 301 

Corporate shares through other 
comprehensive income 

- - - - 11 

Other financial assets - 10 - 10 10 

Liabilities at fair value disclosed 
     

Due to banks - 5 850 - 5 850 5 850 

Customer accounts - 440 276 - 440 276 439 267 

Other financial liabilities - 178 - 178 178 
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Analysis of financial instruments carried at amortized cost or at initial cost (present cost) 2017: 

 

Fair value by measurement models 
Total fair value 

Total book 
value Level І Level ІІ Level ІІІ 

Assets recorded at fair value           

Investments in securities 64 214 - - 64 214 64 214 

Investment property - 1 335 - 1 335 1 335 

Non-current assets held for sale 720 - - 720 720 

 

Assets with fair value disclosed      

Cash and cash equivalents 350 114 - - 350 114 350 114 

Due from banks  6 970  6 970 6 970 

Loans to customers  86 107  86 107 87 137 

Securities available for sale - - - - 11 

Other financial assets - 71 - 71 71 

Liabilities with fair value disclosed 
     

Due to banks - 1 842 - 1 842 1 842 

Customer accounts - 269 515 - 269 515 270 378 

Other financial liabilities - 5 093 - 5 093 5 093 

33. Capital management 

The Bank's objectives when managing capital are: 

1) to comply with the capital requirements set by the National Bank of Ukraine; 

2) to safeguard the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with approved strategic plans; 

3) to cover the negative consequences of the various risks assumed by the Bank in the process of its 
activity. 

The Bank's policy in capital management is to determine the effective level of capital by maximizing the long-
term value for shareholders, in particular, establishing the objectives and guidelines for managing the Bank's 
capital so as to optimize the shareholder's requirement for the return on its investments, taking into account the 
following restrictions: 

 compliance with capital requirements established by supervisory authorities; 

 compliance of capital requirements with the requirements of investors and rating agencies in order to 
ensure the Bank's access to finance in capital markets 

The Bank, in order to determine the real size of the risk-adjusted capital in its activities, continuously assesses 
the quality of its assets and off-balance sheet liabilities, makes appropriate adjustments to its value by generating 
provisions to cover expected (potential) losses on liabilities of counterparties  

The quantitative assessment of capital is complemented by a qualitative, comprehensive discussion. The results 
are summarized as goals for the required level of capital, including strategic directions to maintain a sufficient 
level of capital. 

The Bank's capital structure consists of instruments and capital represented by share capital, share capital in the 
process of registration, reserves, other capital, disclosed in the statement of changes in equity. 
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The table below provides an analysis of the regulatory capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2018 calculated in 
accordance with the requirements of the National Bank of Ukraine:  

Components of regulatory capital 2018  2017  

Primary capital, (tier 1 capital):   

share capital  205 000   205 000  

share premium  41   41  

reserve funds 449  -  

losses of prior years  (6 652)  (20 591) 

intangible assets  (7 752)  (3 649) 

Total tier 1 capital  191 086  180 801  

Additional capital, (tier 2 capital)  32 386   30 261  

Regulatory Adjustments  (2)  (2) 

Total regulatory capital 223 470 211 060 

Capital adequacy ratio 90,62% 146,55% 

The quantitative indicators set by the National Bank to ensure the adequacy of capital require the Bank to 
maintain minimum amounts and regulatory capital ratios 

 The regulatory capital adequacy ratio is at least 10%. 

 The minimum regulatory capital of a bank that have received a banking license before July 11, 2014 
should be: UAH 300 million as of July 11, 2020; 400 million hryvnias from July 11, 2022; 500 million 
hryvnias from July 11, 2024. 
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34. Risk Management  

Risk management plays an important role in banking and operations of the Bank. The main risks peculiar to 
Bank operations include:  

 credit risk;  

 liquidity risk;  

 market risk.  

The Bank recognizes the importance of effective and efficient risk management processes. For this purpose, the 
Bank has established the main principles of risk management, which should protect the Bank from significant 
risks in the future, and also allow it to achieve the planned targets. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge 
their contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it 
is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by 
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. 

Credit risk is monitored by the Center for Risk Management , The Credit Committee, which is established in the 
Bank and operates on a collegial basis, The Board of the Bank and the Supervisory Board within their authority. 

Specialists of the Center for Risk Management provide support to management and business in general through 
the introduction of a variety of risk management tools, for example, developing systems, policies and models of 
credit risk management, and reporting 

The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in 
the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established 
by the use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are 
subject to regular revision. The credit quality review process aims to allow the Bank to assess the potential loss 
as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective actions. 

Credit–related commitments risks 

The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees that may require that the Bank makes payments on their 
behalf and enters into commitments to extend credit lines to secure their liquidity needs. 

The guarantees  commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act. Such 
commitments expose the Bank to similar risks to loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and 
policies. 

Impairment assessment (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018) 

The references below show where the Bank’s impairment assessment and measurement approach is set out in 
this report. It should be read in conjunction with the Note 4 “Summary of significant accounting policies”. 

Definition of default and cure  

The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL calculations 
in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments. The Bank considers 
treasury and interbank balances defaulted and takes immediate action when the required intraday payments are 
not settled in 7 days as outlined in the individual agreements. 

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Bank also considers a variety of 
instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Bank carefully considers whether 
the event should result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL 
calculations or whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such events include: 

 internal rating of the borrower indicating default or near-default; 

 the borrower requesting emergency funding from the Bank; 

 failure to submit to the Bank the financial statements of the Debtor, which makes it impossible to assess 
the financial condition 
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 the borrower is deceased; 

 a material decrease in the underlying collateral value where the recovery of the loan is expected from 
the sale of the collatera; 

 initiation by the Bank of a claim to a court regarding collection of arrears and / or criminal proceedings 
against the party to the contract / its head / its owner; 

 the debtor (or any legal entity within the debtor’s group) filing for bankruptcy application/protection; 

 bank's decision to recognize the debtor / counterparty insolvency or liquidation or an existing 
liquidation decision 

 withdrawal of a banking license from the debtor / counterparty bank 

 presence of a default event on other Debtors' financial instruments at the Bank 

It is the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when 
none of the default criteria have been present for at least six consecutive months. The decision whether to 
classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated credit grade, at the time of the cure, 
and whether this indicates there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition. The 
Bank’s criterion for ‘cure’ for ECL purposes is less stringent than the 24 months requirement for forbearance 
which is explained in Note 4 (see “Forborne and modified loans”). 

The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process  

Models of assigning internal rating levels are developed and applied by the Bank's Independent Risk 
Management Center. Models of internal ratings differ by types of Debtors - legal entities (except banks), 
individuals, counterparty banks. The models use both quantitative and qualitative information and, besides 
information specific to the borrower, also uses additional information from external sources that may affect the 
behavior of the borrower. Such sources of information are primarily used to determine the probability of default 
(PD). PDs are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking information and the IFRS 
9 Stage classification of the exposure. This is repeated for each economic scenarios as appropriate. 

Treasury, trading and interbank relationships  

The Bank’s treasury, trading and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise financial services 
institutions, banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing-houses. For these relationships, the Bank’s credit risk 
department analyses publicly available information such as financial information and other external data and 
assigns the internal rating, as shown in the table below. 

Corporate and small business lending  

For corporate and investment banking loans, the borrowers are assessed by specialised credit risk employees of 
the Bank. The credit risk assessment is based on a credit scoring model that takes into account various historical, 
current and forward-looking information such as: 

 Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This 
financial information includes realised and expected results, solvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any 
other relevant ratios to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are 
captured in covenants with the clients and are, therefore, measured with greater attention. 

 Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating 
grades issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond or CDS prices or 
press releases and articles. 

 Any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.g., GDP growth relevant for the specific industry and 
geographical segments where the client operates.  

 Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management 
relevant for the company’s performance.  

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Bank and the 
complexity and size of the customer.  

Consumer lending  
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Consumer lending comprises unsecured personal loans, credit cards and overdrafts. These products along with 
retail mortgages and some of the less complex small business lending are rated by an automated scorecard tool 
primarily driven by days past due. Other key inputs into the models are: 

 Consumer lending products: use of limits and volatility thereof, GDP growth, unemployment rates, 
changes in personal income/salary levels based on records of current accounts, personal indebtedness 
and expected interest repricing. 

Bank's internal credit rating grades on the basis of the PD for 12 months: 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents,  

Due from Banks Corporate loans 
Loans to 

individuals 

Performing 
   

High grade 0,0-0,12 0,001-0,10 0,005-0,15 

Standard grade 0,13-0,36 0,11-0,35 0,16-0,40 

Sub-standard grade 0,37-0,80 0,36-0,80 0,41-0,80 

Past due but not impaired 0,81-0,999 0,81-0,99 0,81-0,99 

Non- performing    

Individually impaired 1 1 1 

 

Exposure at default (EAD) 

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to the 
impairment calculation, addressing both the client’s ability to increase its exposure while approaching default 
and potential early repayments too. EAD for credit cards and other revolving facilities is set out in Note 0 (see 
“Credit cards and other revolving facilities”). 

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Bank assesses the possible default events within 12 months for the 
calculation of the 12mECL. However, if a Stage 1 loan that is expected to default in the 12 months from the 
balance sheet date and is also expected to cure and subsequently default again, then all linked default events are 
taken into account. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the exposure at default is considered for events 
over the lifetime of the instruments. 

Loss given default (LGD) 

In the case of lending to legal entities, LGD is evaluated and reviewed at least once a year and approved by the 
collegiate authority of the Bank. 

The credit risk is based on the LGD standard model, which results in certain LGDs. These LGDs take into account 
the expected EAD as compared to the amounts expected to be restored or realized as a result of the sale of held 
collateral. 

The Bank segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key characteristics 
that are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss 
data and involves a wider set of transaction characteristics (e.g., product type, wider range of collateral types) as 
well as borrower characteristics. In the absence of data on losses of past periods and experience of losses of the 
Bank after implementation of the maintenance, the value of LGD may be established by expert means. 

Further recent data and forward-looking economic scenarios are used in order to determine the IFRS 9 LGD rate 
for each group of financial instruments. When assessing forward-looking information, the expectation is based 
on multiple scenarios. Examples of key inputs involve changes in, collateral values including property prices for 
mortgages, commodity prices, payment status or other factors that are indicative of losses in the group. 
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The Bank estimates regulatory and IFRS 9 LGDs on a different basis. Under IFRS 9, LGD rates are estimated for 
the Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI IFRS 9 segment of each asset class. The inputs for these LGD rates are 
estimated and, where possible, calibrated through back testing against recent recoveries. These are repeated for 
each economic scenario as appropriate. 

Significant increase in credit risk 

The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a 
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Bank considers an exposure to have significantly increased in 
credit risk when Debtor rating has decreased by more than three positions since the initial recognition. 

The Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an 
asset, such as problem customer/facility to the watch list or asset restructuring. Regardless of the change in 
credit grades, if contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have 
increased significantly since initial recognition. 

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets (“Grouping financial assets measured on 
a collective basis” as below), the Bank applies the same principles for assessing whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In this case, the main feature of a significant increase in 
credit risk is the number of days of delay in payments under the contract. 

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis  

As explained in Note 0 (see “Overview of the ECL principles”), dependant on the factors below, the Bank 
calculates ECLs either on a collective or an individual basis. 

Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on an individual basis include: 

 all Stage 3 assets, regardless of the class of financial assets; 

 The Corporate lending portfolio; 

 Stage 1 and 2 Retail mortgages and Consumer lending; 

 The treasury, trading and interbank relationships (such as Due from Banks, Cash and cash equivalents); 

 Exposures that have been classified as POCI when the original loan was derecognised and a new loan 
was recognised as a result of a credit driven debt restructuring. 

Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on a collective basis include: 

 Individuals debt on credit cards; 

 Purchased POCI exposures managed on a collective basis. 

The Bank groups these exposure into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on a combination of internal and 
external characteristics of the loans, as described below: 

For consumer lending these are: 

 Product type (overdraft, credit card, etc.); 

 Internal grade. 

Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic scenarios 

An overview of the approach to estimating ECLs is set out in Note 0 “Summary of significant accounting policies” 
and in Note Error! Reference source not found. “Significant accounting judgements, estimates and 
ssumptions”. To ensure the completeness and accuracy of the information the Bank uses data from external 
sources, Specialists of the Center for Risk Management check the correctness of these data in order to use them 
in ECL assessment models.  

The following table shows the main factors and values of the main expected economic variables affecting the 
expected loss, assumptions used by the Bank to assess the base case scenario, ECL, determined in the base case 
scenario as at 31 December 2018. 



FREE TRANSLATION FROM THE ORIGINAL IN UKRAINIAN  

JOIN STOCK COMPANY ‘‘ALTBANK’’ 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as at 31.12.2018 

(in thousands of hryvnias) 

84 

31 December 2018 

Key drivers 
Assigned 

probabilities 
2018 
(fact) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Subse
quent 
years 

GDP growth (forecast 
using multiple economic 
scenarios), including: 

  0,033 2,6% 2,8% 3,6% 3,1% 2,9% 3,1% 

crisis scenario 16,2% 0,033 -1,0% -0,5% 0,5% -0,2% -0,4% -0,1% 

stagnant scenario 17,3% 0,033 0,4% 1,1% 1,4% 1,3% 1,4% 1,4% 

moderate scenario 18,3% 0,033 1,9% 2,4% 3,5% 2,8% 2,4% 2,5% 

dynamic scenario 48,2% 0,033 4,9% 4,7% 5,4% 5,0% 4,8% 4,9% 

Unemployment rates * 
(forecast using multiple 
economic scenarios 
including: 

  9,30% 8,6% 8,5% 8,4% 8,3% 8,2% 7,0% 

crisis scenario 16,2% 9,30% 11,6% 12,2% 12,8% 13,5% 14,3% 14,3% 

stagnant scenario 17,3% 9,30% 9,5% 9,5% 9,5% 9,5% 9,5% 9,5% 

moderate scenario 18,3% 9,30% 8,0% 7,7% 7,5% 7,2% 6,9% 5,8% 

dynamic scenario 48,2% 9,30% 7,6% 7,2% 6,8% 6,5% 6,2% 4,2% 

 

A brief overview of modified and restructured loans 

From the point of view of risk management, when the conditions for an asset are reviewed or modified, the Bank 
continues to track the position data until their recognition is completely terminated. 

During 2018 and 2017, the Bank did not modify and restructure loans. 

Analysis of risk concentration 

The Bank’s concentrations of risk are managed by client/counterparty and industry sector. The maximum credit 
exposure to any client or counterparty as of 31 December 2018 was UAH 365 million (2017: UAH 243 million). 

During 2018, the Bank consistently adhered to the risk norms established by the National Bank of Ukraine. In 
particular, as of the end of the day of December 31, 2018, the maximum loan limit per borrower was 20.35% 
(with a normative value of no more than 25%), the norm of the volume of large credit risks is 51.89% (at the 
normative value of not more than 800%), the norm of the maximum amount of credit the risk to related parties 
is 16.37% (with a normative value of no more than 25%), the value of the norm of investing in securities per one 
counterparty and the norm of the total amount of investment were close to zero.  

As of the end of the day on December 31, 2017, the norm of the maximum loan volume per borrower was 
19.30% (with the normative value not more than 25%), the norm of the volume of large credit risks 38.38% (at 
the normative value of not more than 800%), the norm of the maximum amount of credit risk from related 
parties 0.38% (with a normative value of no more than 25%), the value of the norm of investment in securities in 
one counterparty and the norm of the total amount of investment were close to zero. 

The following table shows the concentration of risk by sector by component of the statement of financial 
position. Additional information on credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk by category based on the 
levels of the Bank's internal credit rating and ECL Stages at year-end is presented in Notes 9, 10, 11, 0, 15 and0. 



FREE TRANSLATION FROM THE ORIGINAL IN UKRAINIAN  

JOIN STOCK COMPANY ‘‘ALTBANK’’ 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as at 31.12.2018 

(in thousands of hryvnias) 

85 

Industry analys 

31 December 
2018 Financial 

Services 
Governm

ent Consumers 

Operations 
with 

investment 
properties 

Retail and 
Wholesale 

Health 
care and 

social 
assistance 

Manufactu
ring 

industry 

Temporary 
placement 

and catering 
organization Construction Total 

Financial assets 
          

Cash and cash 
equivalents           

Cash on hand  28 997 - - - - - - - 
 

28 997 

Balances with 
the National Bank 
of Ukraine  

- 23 234 - - - - - - 
 

23 234 

Deposit 
certificates of the 
National Bank of 
Ukraine 

- 325 495 - - - - - - 
 

325 495 

Balances on 
correspondent 
accounts with 
other banks 

74 570 - - - - - - - 
 

74 570 

 
103 567 348 729 - - - - - -   452 296 

Due from banks 
          

Inter banks 
collateral 

7 362 - - - - - - - 
 

7 362 

Inter banks 
Settlements 

17 - - - - - - - 
 

17 

 
7 379 - - - - - - -   7 379 

Securities 
investments            

Government 
bonds 

- 24 539 - - - - - - 
 

24 539 

Shares of 
enterprises 

11 - - - - - - - 
 

11 

 
11 24 539 - - - - - -   24 550 

Loans to customers 
          

Corporate loans - - - 64 054 27 168 3 182 12 943 32 259 
 

139 606 

Loans to 
individuals 

- - 1 695 - - - - - 
 

1 695 

 
- - 1 695 64 054 27 168 3 182 12 943 32 259   141 301 

 
110 957 373 268 1 695 64 054 27 168 3 182 12 943 32 259   625 526 

Financial guarantee - - - - - - 1 534 - 2 214 3 748 

Other loan 
commitments: 

- - - - - - - - 
 

- 

Revocable 
credit lines 

- - - 15 620 88 222 5 812 7 271 1 566 6 786 125 277 

Irrevocable 
unused credit 
lines 

- - 6 344 - - - - - 
 

6 344 

 - - 6 344 15 620 88 222 5 812 8 805 1 566 9 000 135 369 

 110 957 373 268 8 039 79 674 115 390 8 994 21 748 33 825 9 000 760 895 
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1 January 2018 
 

Financial 
Services 

Govern
ment 

Consum
ers 

Operati
ons 

with 
investm

ent 
propert

ies 

Retail 
and 

Wholes
ale 

Health 
care 
and 

social 
assistan

ce 

Manufa
cturing 
industr

y 

Tempor
ary 

placem
ent and 

catering 
organiz

at 
Constru

ction Total 
Financial assets 

          
Cash and cash 
equivalents           

Cash on hand  12 505 - - - - - - - 
 

12 505 
Balances with the 

National Bank of 
Ukraine - 13 869 - - - - - - 

 
13 869 

Deposit 
certificates of the 
National Bank of 
Ukraine - 266 001 - - - - - - 

 
266 001 

Balances on 
correspondent 
accounts with other 
banks 52 523 - - - - - - - 

 
52 523 

 
65 028 279 870 - - - - - -   344 898 

Due from banks 
          Inter banks 

collateral  6 008 - - - - - - - 
 

6 008 
Inter banks 

Settlements - - - - - - - - 
 

- 

 
6 008 - - - - - - -   6 008 

Investments in 
securities at FVTOCI  

          Government 
bonds - 64 214 - - - - - - 

 
64 214 

Shares of 
enterprises 11 - - - - - - - 

 
11 

 
11 64 214 - - - - - -   64 225 

Loans and advances 
to customers 

          Corporate loans - - - 40 614 559 
 

5 597 40 156 
 

86 926 
Loans to 

individuals - - 163 - - - - - 
 

163 

 
- - 163 40 614 559 - 5 597 40 156   87 089 

 
71 047 344 084 163 40 614 559 - 5 597 40 156   502 220 

Financial guarantees - - - - 133 - 3 038 - 1 193 4 364 
Other loan 
commitments: - - - - - - - - 

 
- 

Revocable credit 
lines - - 2 024 

 
79 071 

 
2 500 1 587 806 85 988 

Irrevocable 
unused credit lines - - - - - - - - 

 
- 

 
- - 2 024 - 79 204 - 5 538 1 587 1 999 90 352 

 
71 047 344 084 2 187 40 614 79 763 - 11 135 41 743 1 999 592 572 
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Collateral and other credit enhancements 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. 
Guidelines are in place covering the acceptability and valuation of each type of collateral. 

The main types of collateral obtained are, as follows: 

• For corporate lending, collateral of liquid real estate in the amount that is sufficient to cover credit risk, 
collateral for other fixed assets, the use of which is carried out from the main activities of the counterparty, 
pledge of inventories, cash cover and other liquid services. 

• For Loans to individuals, mortgages over residential properties. 

The Bank also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiaries. 

The Bank monitors the market value of collateral and will request additional collateral in accordance with the 
underlying agreement. 

Disclosure of credit quality and the maximum exposure for credit risk per categories based on the Bank’s 
internal credit rating system and the Stage ECL at the year-end are further disclosed in Error! Reference source 
ot found., 10, Error! Reference source not found., 0, Error! Reference source not found. and 0. 

Information about loans by the type of collateral for 2018: 

 
Corporate loans 

Consumer loans to 
individuals 

Total 

Unsecured loans 2 553 2 006 4 559 

Loans collateralized by: 140 042 128 140 170 

real estate 125 836 - 125 836 

including housing 5 984 - 5 984 

other assets 14 206 128 14 334 

Total loans 142 595 2 134 144 729 

Information about loans as per collateral in 2017: 

 
Corporate loans 

Consumer loans to 
individuals 

Total 

Unsecured loans 5 211 216 

Loans collateralized by: 86 921 - 86 921 

real estate 120 - 120 

including housing 120 - 120 

other assets 86 801 - 86 801 

Total loans 86 926 211 87 137 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations within 
the set time limit, or the risk that such liabilities will have to be repaid with excessive costs. This risk stems from 
discrepancies in terms of cash flows. It is inherent in all banking operations, and it can be influenced by a series 
of events inherent in the Bank and the entire market. 
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Liquidity risk management 

The Bank has developed a comprehensive policy and control structure for liquidity risk management. The Assets 
and Liabilities Management Committee of the Bank (ALMC) and the Bank's Credit Committee are responsible for 
managing the Bank's liquidity risk through combining policy formulation, review and regulation, analysis, stress 
testing, setting and monitoring of limits. In order to effectively manage liquidity risk, the Bank: 

 supports a portfolio of highly liquid assets, in different currencies and with different maturities 

 guarantees the diversity of its resource base 

 monitors the behavioral characteristics of financial assets and liabilities 

 monitors reports on liquidity conditions that analyze the expected maturities of assets and liabilities 

 sets the indicators for early warning of possible stress events for liquidity and ensures the availability of 
assets that will be used as collateral if necessary 

 conducts regular stress tests; 

 has a contingency financing plan designed to create a structure that can effectively manage stress for 
liquidity. 

There are daily controls available to determine and monitor the Bank's willingness to liquidate its risk. Also an 
important indicator used is the result of stress testing of the Bank's liquidity, supplemented by the results of 
observance of the main normative coefficients. 

During 2018, the Bank held a significant share of funds in high-liquid deposit certificates of the National Bank of 
Ukraine and Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine. Thus, as of the end of the day on December 31, 
2018, the amount of such funds amounted to UAH 350,034 thousand, or 51% of the balance currency. 

Stress testing of liquidity 

The Bank seeks to support liquid assets sufficient to cover outflows in stressful conditions during (1) 90-day 
stress periods for the entire market; (2) an extreme stressful event for the Bank for a duration of 30 days; and 
(3) a 30-day combined stressful event that reflects a shorter extreme stress for the Bank, after which there is a 
stress for the entire market. As a rule, the outflow in the event of a stressful event for the Bank is the most 
serious. 

The stress scenarios reflect critical data and assumptions structured around the following key liquidity risk 
factors that reflect the liquidity risk management framework outlined in the Bank's regulatory material 

 outflow of funds on demand of 10 largest lenders of the bank - legal entities and individuals 

 a decrease in the sum of highly liquid assets. 

In the current and prior periods, the Bank maintained sufficient liquid assets to meet all regulatory requirements 
and internal stress tests: 

Norm Normative value 
As of the end of the day 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

Instant liquidity not less than 20% 419.15% 413.24% 

Current liquidity not less than 40% 127.58% 137.14% 

Short-term liquidity not less than 60% 124.05% 134.43% 

Financing structure 

The Bank seeks to diversify its resource base, while providing loans to customers largely through equity and 
stable deposits received from customers. 
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The maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The table below provides an analysis of maturities of financial assets and liabilities of the Bank 

Maturity analysis of financial 
liabilities for 2018 

Demand 
and less 

than one 
month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

Due to banks 5 850  -   -   -   -  5 850  

Customer accounts: 376 790 20 082 33 815 10 804 - 441 491 

to individuals 164 032 20 068 32 193 9 296 - 225 589 

to corporate customers 212 758 14 1 622  1 508   -  215 902 

Other financial liabilities 74 29 62 13  -  178 

Total potential future payments 
on financial liabilities 

382 714 20 111 33 877 10 817 - 447 519 

 

Maturity analysis of financial 
liabilities for 2017 

Demand 
and less 

than one 
month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

Due to banks 1 842 - - - - 1 842 

Customer accounts: 296 910 639 10 526 141 1 375 309 591 

to individuals 104 246 14 1 962 141 1 375 107 738 

to corporate customers 192 664 625 8 564 - - 201 853 

Other financial liabilities 2 730 20 72 - - 2 822 

Total potential future payments 
on financial liabilities 

301 482 659 10 598 141 1 375 314 255 
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Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on expected maturities for 2018: 

 Less than 
one month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 452 296 -  -   -  -  452 296 

Due from banks 7 379     7 379 

Loans to customers 4 701 6 119 53 696 76 785 0 141 301 

Investments in securities 24 539 -  -   -   11  24 550 

Other financial assets 10 -  -   -  -  10 

Total financial assets 488 925 6 119 53 696 76 785 11 625 536 

LIABILITIES       

Due to banks 5 850 - - -  -  5 850 

Customer accounts 376 541 19 616 32 569 10 541  -  439 267 

Other financial liabilities 74 29 62 13  -  178 

Total financial liabilities 382 465 19 645 32 631 10 554  -  445 295 

Net liquidity gap as at 31 December  106 460   (13 526)  21 065   66 231   11   180 241  

Cumulative liquidity gap as at 31 
December 

 106 460   92 934 113 999  180 230  180 241  -  

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on expected maturities for 2017: 

 

 Less than 
one month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 350 114 - - - - 350 114 

Due from banks 6 970     6 970 

Securities at fair value through profit 
or loss 

- 34 342   29 872  -   -  64 214 

Due from other banks - - - - - - 

Loans to customers 2 237 -  9 102 75 798 - 87 137 

Securities available for sale - - - - 11 11 

Other financial assets 31 - 40 - - 71 

Total financial assets 359 352 34 342 39 014 75 798 11 508 517 

LIABILITIES       

Due to banks 1 842 - - - - 1 842 

Customer accounts 296 876 548 10 424 - 1 375 309 223 

Other financial liabilities 2 730 20 72 - -  2 822 

Total financial liabilities 301 448 568 10 496 - 1 375 313 887 

Net liquidity gap as at 31 December 57 904  33 774  28 518  75 798  (1 364) 194 630  
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Cumulative liquidity gap as at 31 
December 

57 904  91 678  120 196  195 994  194 630  -  

The following table shows the book value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are expected to be 
recovered or settled more than 12 months after the reporting date. 

 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

  
less 

than 12 
months 

more 
than 12 
months 

Total 
less than 

12 
months 

more 
than 12 
months 

Total 

ASSETS             

Cash and cash equivalents 452 296  -  452 296 350 114 - 350 114 

Due from banks 7 379  7 379 6 970  6 970 

Securities at fair value through profit or loss    64 214 - 64 214 

Loans to customers 64 516 76 785  141 301  11 339 75 798 87 137 

Financial investments at fair value through 
profit or loss 

 24 539   11   24 550  - - - 

Securities available for sale    - 11 11 

Investment property  -   1 289   1 289   -  1335 1 335 

Current tax assets  -   1 333   1 333   -  1333 1 333 

Deferred tax assets  -  8 956  8 956   -  12 771 12 771 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

 -  33 862  33 862   -  13 863 13 863 

Other assets 12 614  -   12 614   761 - 761 

Non-current assets held for sale  -   -   -  720 - 720 

Total assets 561 344 122 236  683 580  434 118 105 111  539 229  

LIABILITIES       

Due to banks 5 850  -   5 850  1 842  -  1 842 

Customer accounts 428 725 10 542 439 267  307 848 1 375 309 223 

Other liabilities 5 138   -  5 138  7 330 - 7 330  

Estimated liabalities 125 - 125    

Total liabilities 439 838 10 542 450 380  317 020 1 375 318 395  

Market risk 

The Bank is exposed to market (price) risk due to unexpected changes in market prices for assets that are on its 
balance sheet or accounted for on off balance sheet accounts. However, in addition to the presence of risk factors 
that are not under the direct control of the Bank, and the degree of their volatility, the necessary prerequisite for 
market risk is the existence of an open position that determines the degree of sensitivity of the financial 
institution to fluctuations in market indicators. Based on insignificant volumes of investments in non-fixed 
income securities and fixed assets, management focuses primarily on the management of interest and currency 
risks belonging to a group of market risks. 
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Market risk management 

The purpose of market risk management is to achieve the planned level of profitability of the Bank for a risk 
acceptable to the shareholder, that is, minimizing losses from unexpected fluctuations in interest rates and 
exchange rates. 

The Supervisory Board, the Management Board and the ALMC are responsible for ensuring effective 
management of market risk in the Bank. 

The essence of risk management is to determine the risk appetite and the level of tolerance to the corresponding 
risk, that is, the sum of the maximum allowable losses from the fluctuations of market indicators, and the 
establishment and control of limits on the magnitude of the relevant open positions exposed by the Bank at risk. 

The implementation of the selected market risk management strategy involves coordinated management of the 
assets and liabilities structure and the establishment of minimum / maximum interest rates on interest assets / 
liabilities 

The main measures for managing market risk are: 

 identification of sources of risk and measurement of its value, regardless of the units that carry out risk 
activities, and based on the data of the operating system Bank 

 risk management; 

 and control over observance of the limits on the amount of risk that is carried out monthly by the Center 
for risk management with subsequent reporting to the Bank's Management Board 

 periodic assessment of the effectiveness of the risk management strategy and tactic 

The impact of market risk on the Bank's operations is also insignificant as the bank does not actively engage in 
the formation of a portfolio of securities. The fair value of the Government bonds of the Ministry of Finance of 
Ukraine, which are in the Bank's trading portfolio, has a certain impact, but the share of these securities in the 
total assets remained to be insignificant during the year 2017 (as of the end of December 31, 2018, 4% as of the 
end of December 31 2017 - 12%) and price fluctuations did not have a significant impact on the Bank's 
operations 

Currency risk.  

Currency risk is the risk of receiving losses due to changes in the hryvnya value of assets, liabilities or off-balance 
sheet items denominated in foreign currency, caused by the change in foreign exchange rates. 

Currency risk management is carried out by setting limits, which daily compares the actual size of positions 
exposed by the Bank to currency risk. During 2018 and 2017, the Bank complied with approved internal limits 

In current and prior periods, the Bank has adhered to currency position limits to meet all regulatory 
requirements and internal stress tests: 

Standarts 

As of the end of 31 December 2018 As of the end of 31 December 2017 

Normative 
value 

 

Actual value 

Normative 
value 

Actual value 

Limit of long currency position 
not less than 5% 2.21% 

not more than 
1% 

0.40% 

Limit of short currency position 
not less than 5% 0.22% 

not more than 
10% 

0.07% 

The control over compliance with the limits is to match the actual size of the corresponding open position and 
the established limit on it. In case of non-compliance with the limit, the reasons for its occurrence are analyzed 
and a plan of measures for elimination of a violation or a proposal for the change of the existing system of limits 
is proposed. 

The currency risk is insignificant for the bank, as the share of assets denominated in foreign currency remained 
insignificant for 2018. At the end of the day on December 31, 2018, the share of assets denominated in foreign 
currencies amounted to 20.4%, liabilities - 20.4% of the net assets. 
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Currency risk analysis: 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

  
monetary 

assets 
monetary 
liabilities 

net 
position 

monetary 
assets 

monetary 
liabilities 

net 
position 

USD  80 169   76 116   4 053  53 845 53 491 354 

Euro  62 795   62 752   43  44 043 43 473 570 

Others  -   492   (492) 385 501 (116) 

UAH  482 571   305 935   176 636  410 244 216 422 193 822 

Total  625 535 445 295 180 240 508 517 313 887 194 630 

Below is the analysis of the Bank's sensitivity to the exchange rate fluctuations of the base currency the USD  
against UAH.  

Sensitivity of profit or loss and equity to reasonably possible changes in exchange rates applied at the end of the 
reporting period on the condition that all other variables held constant: 

 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

impact on profit / 
loss 

impact on equity,% 
impact on profit / 

loss 
impact on 
equity,% 

USD strengthening by 
15% (2016 - 15%) 

 608   0.26  53 0.05 

USD weakening by 15%  

(2016 - 15%)  
 (608)  (0.26) (53) (0.05) 

EUR strengthening 
by15% (2016 - 15%) 

 6   0.00  86 0.00 

EUR weakening by 15% 
(2016 - 15%) 

 (6)  (0.00) (86) (0.00) 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows or fair value of financial assets and liabilities will change due to 
changes in market interest rates. 

The main objective of interest rate risk management is to reduce the effect of changes in interest rates on the 
cost of capital by limiting and reducing the amount of potential losses that the Bank may incur due to open 
positions due to a change in the situation on financial markets. The purpose of the policy on managing interest 
rate risk is to describe and establish the main criteria for guidance on managing and controlling interest rate risk 
in the Bank. 

Identification of risk sources is carried out by analyzing the existing structure of interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities. The analysis of maturity missed interest rates (for fixed rate assets and liabilities) or the immediate 
interest rate revision date (for floating interest rates or revolving interest rates and assets) is a good measure for 
determining positions , exposing the Bank to interest rate risk. 

The Bank quantifies the interest rate risk based on the analysis of the sensitivity of the net interest income to the 
change in interest rates. The valuation is carried out according to all Bank's positions for instruments sensitive to 
interest rates. 

The purpose of the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee is to minimize gaps between the periods of 
revaluation of interest-bearing assets and liabilities by changing the parameters of individual large transactions 
and modifying existing banking product standards and pricing policies. Provision of the planned level of interest 
income is carried out through the management of interest spreads. 
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General Interest rate analysis: 

 

Demand 
and less 

than 1 
month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 
to 12 
months 

Over 
one 

year 

Financial 
instruments free 

from interest rate 
risk 

Total 

2018 
      

Total financial assets 481 536 16 492 43 323  76 785  7 400 625 536 

Total financial liabilities 378 383 34 423 17 762 10 541 178 441 287 

Net interest sensitivity 
gap as at 31 December 
2018 

103 153 (17 931) 25 561 66 244 7 222 184 249 

2017  
      

Total financial assets 352 351 53 339 19 977 75 798 7 052 508 517 

Total financial liabilities 298 718 7 503 3 469 1 375 2 822 313 887 

Net interest sensitivity 
gap as at 31 December 
2017 

53 633 45 836 16 508 74 423 4 230 194 630 

Interest rate risk is assessed using "earnings at risk" approach by applying assumptions about the nature of the 
interest rate curve change to actual structure of interest sensitivity gaps of assets and liabilities and calculating 
corresponding impact on net interest margin for the year. 

 
Demand and 

less than 1 
month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 
months 

Total 

2018 
    

Sensitivity of financial assets  4 615   137   361  5 113 

Sensitivity of financial liabilities  3 626   287   148  4 061 

Sensitivity of annual interest income as at 31 
December 2018 

 989   (150)  213   1 052  

2017  
    

Sensitivity of financial assets 3 377 444 166 3 987 

Sensitivity of financial liabilities 2 863 63 29 2 955 

Sensitivity of annual interest income as at 31 
December 2017 

514 381 137 1 032  
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The monitoring of the weighted average interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 is presented as follows:  

Percentage 
31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

UAH USD, EUR, others UAH USD, EUR, others 

ASSETS          

Cash and cash equivalents 14,15 0,44 11,57 0,04 

Due from other banks 16,39 - 10,96 - 

Loans to customers 17,87 8,00 17,96 8,89 

Investments in securities 16,53 6,20 14,99 7,25 

LIABILITIES  
    

Customer accounts 4,67 1,21 4,64 0,94 

Current accounts 3,98 0,42 4,53 0,77 

Term deposits 12,13 3,19 10,46 2,67 

Geographic risk.  

The Bank controls the geographical concentration of assets and liabilities in accordance with the contractors’ 
country of origin. The Bank assesses geographic risk as low.  

As at 31 December 2018 due to non-residents of other countries was UAH: 58 713 thousand or 13.04% of total 
liabilities, UAH 84 thousand of loans to customers or 0.01% of the Bank’s assets. As at 31 December 2017 due to 
non-residents of other countries was UAH 56,781 thousand or 17.8% of total liabilities, UAH 27 thousand of 
loans to customers or 0.005% of the Bank’s assets  
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35. Subsequent events 

The Bank received an act of a commencement check of the General Directorate of The State Fiscal Service in Kyiv 
on the results of a commencement check of the timeliness of the registration of tax invoices and/or adjustments 
to the tax invoices in the Unified Register of Tax Bills for 2017-2018 in February 2019. In the act of the Chamber 
audit indicated that the verification established that the Bank violated the requirements of the Tax Code of 
Ukraine in terms of the deadline for the registration of tax invoices and adjustments to the consolidated tax 
invoices that are not issued to the recipient (buyer), as well as the requirement to pay fines of UAH 192 
thousand. 

In turn, the Bank does not agree with the conclusions specified in the Act and filed a complaint with the State 
Fiscal Service of Ukraine. The Bank did not create reserves for this risk in the financial statement. At the date of 
issue of the financial report, the response to the Bank's complaint has not yet been received. 
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